


THE MOST TERRIFYING, AWESOME CONSPIRACY
IN HUMAN HISTORY STARTS HERE...

The first wave of modern UFO sightings occurred nearly a hundred
years ago. Fact. In 1908 a mysterious, nuclear-like
explosion devastated a vast area of Siberia. Fact. Allied
airmen flying over Germany in World War Il were chased by
eerie fireballs. Fact. During that same global conflict, the
Nazis experimented desperately to try and create the world's
first flying saucer. Fact.

These facts hold the key to the nightmarish secret of UFOs.

Based on previously concealed but carefully documented
evidence, INCEPTION begins the epic Projekt Saucer
series - a sequence of chilling revelations in the form of
gripping fiction. Here is a unique, controversial and provocative
work exposing cover-ups, conspiracies and terrible truths that have
been hidden far, far too long . . .

'Harbinson's novels are never less than

stupendous. | am in awe of this man'
JAMES HERBERT

Harbinson is a combination of H. G. Wells
and Frederick Forsyth - audacious
imagination combined with a precise and

convincing realism'
COLIN WILSON



THE ULTIMATE CONSPIRACY

W. A. Harbinson started to uncover the nightmarish truth about
Unidentified Flying Objects (UFOs) in the research for his
international bestseller Genesis. Now he has taken tha
groundbreaking work and expanded it, going back decades tt
create another astounding epic. Inception is a terrifying story base
on documented historical fact that reveals what is really known
about UFOs while it holds readers spellbound with a breathtaking
thriller about organized evil, global conspiracy - and the secret
future of our world ...

INCEPTION: THE FIRST BOOK OF THE EPIC TERROR
SERIES PROJEKT SAUCER
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AUTHOR'S NOTE

In 1980 my 615-page novel, Genesis, based on a mass of resea
material, became a cult best-seller on both sides of the Atlantic.
remains in print to this day.

Reviewing the novel on its initial publication in the United States,
Publishers Weekly said: 'Harbinson has drawn so heavily on factu
material and integrated it so well into the text that the book begin
to read like non-fiction ..." This conclusion was drawn by other
reviewers, and over the years | received many letters from reade
who obviously thought the same and begged me to tell them whic
parts of the book were fact and which were fiction. For the record
then, here are some facts.

Before writing Genesis, while researching a different novel
altogether, | obtained through the Imperial War Museum, London
two short articles that attracted my attention. One was a routine w:
report by Marshall Yarrow, then the Reuters special correspondel
to Supreme Headquarters in liberated Paris. The particular cutting
had was from the South Wales Argus of December 13, 1944. |
stated: The Germans have produced a "secret" weapon in keepi
with the Christmas season. The new device, which is apparently
air defence weapon, resembles the glass balls which ado
Christmas trees. They have been seen hanging in the air ov
German territory, sometimes singly, sometimes in clusters. The
are coloured silver and are apparently transparent.’ The secol
article, an Associated Press release published in the New York Here
Tribune of January 2, 1945, illuminated the subject even
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more. It said: 'Now, it seems, the Nazis have thrown somethin
new into the night skies over Germany. It is the weird,
mysterious "Foo fighter" balls which race alongside the wings
of Beaufighters flying intruder missions over Germany. Pilots
have been encountering this eerie weapon for more than

month in their night flights. No one apparently knows what
this sky weapon is. The "balls of fire" appear suddenly and
accompany the planes for miles. They seem to be radio
contr(?lled from the ground, so official intelligence reports

reveal...'

Official 'Foo fighter' reports were submitted by pilots Henry
Giblin and Walter Cleary, who stated that on the night of
September 27, 1944, they had been harassed in the vicinity «
Speyer by 'an enormous burning light' that was flying above
their aircraft at about 250 miles per hour; then by Lieutenant
Edward Schluter, a fighter pilot of the US 415th Night-Fighter
Squadron based at Dijon, France, who, on the night of
November 23, 1944, was harassed over the Rhine by 'ten sm:
reddish balls of fire' flying in formation at immense speed.
Further sightings were made by members of the same
squadron on November 27, December 22, and December 24.

While no official designation of the Foo fighters was offered,
most reports indicated that they appeared to be under son
kind of control and were certainly not 'natural' phenomena.
Indeed, according to a London Daily Telegraph report of
January 2, 1945, RAF pilots were describing them as 'strang
orange lights which follow their planes, sometimes flying in
formation with them, and eventually peeling off and climbing
(author's italics).

According to the Italian author Renato Vesco, in his book
Intercept - But Don't Shoot (Grove Press, 1971), the Foo fighte
was actually the German Feuerball, or Fireball, constructed &
an aeronautical establishment at Wiener Neustadt It was a fla
circular flying machine, powered by a turbojet, and used
during the closing stages of the war both as an antiradar devic
and a psychological weapon designed to disturb Allied pilots.

In any event, sightings of the Foo fighters tailed off and
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ceased completely a few weeks before the end of the war.

The next wave of UFO sightings occurred in Western
Europe and Scandinavia. From 1946 to 1947 many people
including airline pilots and radar operatives, reported seeing
strange cigar- or disc-shaped objects in the skies. On June 2
1947, Harold Dahl reported seeing saucer-shaped object
flying toward the Canadian border. Three days later Kennett
Arnold made his more famous sightings of saucer-shapet
gbj%cts over the Cascades, also flying toward the Canadia

order.

These and subsequent sightings led to speculation that bo
the Soviets and the Americans, utilizing the men and materia
captured in the secret research plants of Nazi Germany
including those at Peenemiinde and Nordhausen, wer:
developing advanced saucer-shaped aircraft.

Were such speculations based on facts?

It would certainly seem so.

During the early 1950s, a former Luftwaffe engineer,
Flugkapitan Rudolph Schriever, then resident at Hokerstrass
28 In Bremerhaven-Lehe, West Germany, claimed that in 194
he had designed the prototype for a 'flying top,' which was test
flown in June 1942. In the summer of 1944, with his colleagues
Klaus Habermohl, Otto Miethe, and an ltalian, Dr Giuseppe
Belluzzo, he had constructed a larger version of his origina
prototype. Then, in the East Hall of the BMW plant near
Prague, they redesigned the larger model, replacing its ga:
turbine engines with an advanced form of jet propulsion.

An article about Projekt Saucer was later published in the
indispensible volume, German Secret Weapons of the Secor
World War (English-language editions published by Neville
Spearman, London, 1959, and the Philosophical Library, New
York, 1959) by Major Rudulph Lusar. It included repro-
ductions of Schriever and Miethe's flying-saucer drawings.

According to Lusar, the flying saucer consisted of a 'wide-
surface ring which rotated round a fixed, cupola-shaped
cockpit' The ring consisted of 'adjustable wing-discs which
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could be brought into appropriate position for the take-off or
horizontal flight, respectively." Also developed was 'a discus-
shaped plate of a diameter of 42 meters (138 feet), in whicl
adjustable jets were inserted.' The completed machine had
height from base to canopy of 32 meters (105 feet).

Schriever claimed that his ‘flying disc' had been ready for
testing in early 1944, but with the advance of the Allies into
Germany, the test had been canceled, the machine destroye
and his designs either mislaid or stolen. His story was,
however, contradicted by alleged eyewitness Georg Klein, wh
later stated to the German press that he had actually seen t
test flight of the Schriever disc, or one similar, on February
14, 1945.

Doubt may be cast on Klein's date, because according t
the War Diary of the 8th Air Fleet, February 14, 1945, was a
day of low clouds, rain, snow, and generally poor visibility -
hardly the conditions for the testing of a revolutionary new
kind of aircraft. Nevertheless, according to author Renato
Vesco, the test flight of a machine called the Kugelblitz, or Ball
Lightning Fighter - which was rumored to be a revolutionary
kind of supersonic aircraft - was conducted successfully ovel
the underground complex of Kahla (near Nordhausen)
sometime during February 1945.

Did the United States then become involved in flying saucel
projects?

The short answer is: yes.

Evidence for US involvement surfaced with information about
the US Navy's Flying Flapjack, or Flying Pancake. Designed
by Charles H. Zimmerman and constructed in 1942 by the
Chance-Voight Corporation, the Flying Flapjack, or V-173, was
an experimental, vertical-rising, disc-shaped aircraft that use
two 80-hp engines. A later, more advanced model, the XF5U-1
utilized two Pratt and Whitney R-2000-7 engines of 1,600 hp
each. It was rumored to be over 100 feet (30 meters) ir
diameter and to have jet nozzles - resembling the 'glowing
windows' seen on so many UFOs - arranged around its rim.
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It was built in three layers, the central layer being slightly
larger than the other two. As the saucer's velocity anc
maneuvering abilities were controlled by the power and tilt of
the separate jet nozzles, there were no ailerons, rudders, |
other protruding surfaces.

In appearance it was remarkably similar to those reportec
by so many UFO witnesses.

The US Navy claimed to have ceased working on the Flying
Flapjack project in 1947 (the first version, the V-173, is stored
with the Smithsonian Institution), but US involvement with
saucer-shaped aircraft did not stop there.

The reports that started the modern UFO scare - the Dat
and Arnold sightings of 1947 - both stated that the saucer:
flew back toward the Canadian border. On February 11, 1953
the Toronto Star reported that a new flying saucer was bein
developed at the Avro-Canada plant in Malton, Ontario.

Both the US and Canadian governments vehemently denie
involvement in any such project, but on February 16, after
freelance photographer Jack Judges had taken an aeri
photograph of a flying saucer resting outdoors in the Avro-
Canada plant in Malton, the Minister for Defence Production
admitted to the Canadian House of Commons that the firm wa
working on a 'mock-up model' of a flying saucer, capable of
flying at 1,500 miles per hour (2,400 km/h) and ascending
vertically. Shortly after this announcement, the president of
Avro-Canada wrote in Avro News that the prototype being built
was so revolutionary that it would make all other forms of
supersonic aircraft obsolete.

The aircraft's official name was the Avro-Car.

According to official statements, the Avro-Car was tested
in 1960 and subsequently abandoned as a failure. (Th
prototype is now on display for all to see at the Army
Transportation Museum at Fort Eustis, Virginia.) However,
while the Canadian and US governments have insisted the
they are no longer involved with flying saucer construction
projects, there are many who believe that they are lying an
that the Canadian, British, US, and even Soviet governments
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are continuing to work on highly advanced, saucer-shaped
supersonic aircraft based on the work done in Nazi Germany
Those who believe in this are often quick to point out that of
the original Projekt Saucer team, Habermohl was captured b
the Russians and taken back to the Soviet Union, along with ove
six thousand German technical specialists of all kinds, tc
work on similar projects; Miethe went to the United States
with Wernher von Braun and other German rocket scientist:
and ended up working for Avro-Canada, in Malton; and
Rudolph Schriever insisted right up to his death, in the late
1950s, that the Soviet Union and United States were bott
working on flying saucer construction projects based on
material captured during the war.

For the purposes of my fiction, | have utilized many real-life
people, including the mysterious John Wilson and the Nazi S¢
generals Artur Nebe and Hans Kammler.

The term 'real-life' is used in regard to John Wilson only in
the sense that during the first modern UFO sightings - the
Great Airship Scare of 1896-97 - when airships of unknown
origin and advanced design were reportedly seen, and lande
all over the United States, the man whom most witnesse:
reportedly spoke to had introduced himself simply as "Wilson'
alllnd claimed that his airships had been constructed in lowa ar
lllinois.

He was not seen or heard of after the great scare endec
though C. C. Akers, former sheriff of Zavalia County, Texas,
to whom Wilson had referred when speaking to one of the
witnesses, claimed that he had known a Wilson who was of ‘a
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mechanical turn of mind' and ‘working on aerial navigation and
something that would astonish the world.'

Regarding the SS general Artur Nebe: While he was places
on a Nazi 'death list' in 1944 and disappeared shortly after, hi
death was never confirmed. Many felt that he had simply fled
for his life. As for General Hans Kammler, his history with the
SS and the V-2 rocket program is well documented, but wha
became of him after he disappeared from Germany in April
1945 remains a mystery to this day.

These are some of the facts supporting the fiction of the
original Genesis as well as Inception.

Ponder them wisely.

W. A. Harbinson London, 1990



CHAPTER ONE

The sun was still rising over the barren prairie near Roswell
New Mexico, when the Model T Ford, towing a trailer and
churning up clouds of dust, approached the flat plain of Eder
Valley, followed by a vintage black touring sedan.

Parked by the wooden shelter near the steel-webbed towve
that soared sixty feet above the desert floor, with her knee
propped up on the steering wheel of her car and her noteboc
resting on them, Gladys Kinder chewed on her pencil, watche
the distant caravan approaching, then nodded thoughtfully an
started to write. She began positively.

Well, folks, what an era it has been! First the Civil Warr,
then the Industrial Revolution, and now the Age of Science
and Technology. And what advances have been made in t
past few years! Michael Faraday explored electrical induction.
Joseph Henry made startling advances in electromagnetisr
Bell devised the telephone, Morse the telegraph, Edison th
incandescent lamp, Heinrich Hertz detected radio waves
Marconi produced the wireless communicator, and other
scientists are presently revolutionizing our concept of the
essential elements of matter and the behavior of light-waves
all in the space of a few years!

And this very day, just before we hail the bright and shiny
New Year of 1931, our very own scientific genius, Robert H.
Goddard, is about to launch his latest liquid-fueled,
instrument-carrying, gyroscopically controlled rocket from the
desolate plain known as Eden Valley.
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Eden Valley! An appropriate name - since what is being
created here could well lead to a world changed beyond oL
wildest imaginings.

A strange and terrible beauty is being born here in Roswell
New Mexico...

She studied what she had written, not pleased with its awkwar
mixture of the folksy and the academic, then looked up agair
as the caravan approached the steel-webbed launching tow
and braked to a halt.

As the dust subsided around the vehicles, Gladys gaze
around her to take in some background details, then hurried!
jotted down what she had seen:

From where | sit, which is close to the rocket's launching
tower, the snowcapped El Capitdn Mountain rises from the
foothills near the southwestern horizon. To the east are th
sunlit slopes of the Caprock and, beyond them, the Stake
Plains, where the Comanche Indians, Spanish explorers, ar
even Billy the Kid roamed not long ago...

Temporarily blocked and deciding to fill the rest in later, she
put the notebook and pen back into her shoulder bag. As st
looked up, five men stepped down from the two vehicles,
casting long shadows on the desert floor.

She instantly recognized the forty-eight-year-old Goddard
from his stooped walk and thin, tubercular body. He did not
like journalists, did not approve of her being there, and sc
stared directly at her, his brown gaze intense over his
mustache, before turning away to give instructions to his smal
group of mechanics and machinists.

Wilson wasn't among them.

Surprised, Gladys slid her knees off the steering wheel an
looked south across the flat plain, hoping to see him driving
toward her. Thwarted, she returned her gaze to the front ii
time to see the crew unwrapping the long bundle that hac
been covered with quilts and oilcloth and trussed down on the
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back of the trailer towed by the Ford.

Once it had been unwrapped, the men lifted Robert H.
Goddard's latest rocket out of the trailer bed.

It was a slender cylinder, about eleven feet long and nine
inches in diameter, complicated with various tanks and tubing
One of its stabilizer vanes was painted bright red. The mel
carried it with considerable care to the sixty-foot launching
tower, which had been guyed by cables and anchored i
concrete.

Henry Sachs, the crew chief and instrument maker, and A
Kisk, Goddard's brother-in-law, climbed the tower and
fastened cables to the striped rocket to hold it steady until it
moment of release. Meanwhile, on the ground below, two of
the mechanics, brothers Lawrence and Charles Mansul
reeled wire out from the tower to the control shelter that hac
been constructed about a thousand feet away from th
launching tower and buttressed with sandbags. Ther
Lawrence headed out into the desert with his recording
telescope and stopwatch while Charles walked up to Glady:
and grinned nervously at her.

‘No journalists are supposed to be here,' he said. '‘Goddarc
not pleased to see you.'

'Wilson told me | could come,’ she replied.

'Oh, did he, indeed?'

'Yes.'

'So where's Wilson?'

'| was going to ask you that.’

‘I don't know,' Mansur said. 'l don't know anything about
that damned Wilson. No one does, Gladys - except mayb
you.'

'‘And Goddard.'

‘Goddard swears he's just an old friend.'

Then that's what he is.’

'He sure has a lot of priority for someone who's just an old
friend and claims to know nothing about aeronautics.'

'So it goes,’ Gladys said.

"You're a damned good journalist, Gladys. You've got eyes
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and ears. You know damned well we resent him.'

'Why?'

'‘Why ask, since you know?'

'l only know what I'm told, so tell me.'

Mansur shook his head from side to side, grinning
sardonically. 'All | can tell you is that | don't know a damned
thing about Wilson. | don't, my brother doesn't, none of the
other crew members do - and what Goddard knows, he's nc
about to discuss. In other words, Wilson is a mystery - he's
just here as Goddard's friend.'

'Doing what? The cooking?'

"Very smart, Miss Kinder.'

'So, what?'

Mansur shrugged. 'Again, | don't know. All I know is that
Wilson appeared out of nhowhere about six months ago, tha
he's been tight as can be with Goddard since then, and th
the two spend a lot of time in Goddard's workshop, doing Goc
knows what According to Goddard, we're not supposed to tall
about Wilson. As far as the public's concerned, Wilson doesn
exist. And as far as we're concerned - by which | mean
Goddard's crew - Wilson has a mysterious hold on Goddaro
with the master doing what the student bids. And he also ha
you in his bed - so what else do you want to know?"'

Gladys smiled. 'Wilson's about sixty years old. Who the hell
are you kidding?'

'Well, Gladys, you're thirty-five. And Wilson doesn't look like a
sixty-year-old. He looks about your age.'

'‘Gee, thanks, Charlie!’

'Dammit, Gladys, you know what | mean.’

'Yes, Charlie, | do.'

What Charlie meant was that while Wilson was at least
twenty years older than Goddard and claimed to be working
for him, the general feeling among the crew was that he ha
somehow, surreptitiously, taken charge of the rocket projec
and was pulling all the strings behind the scenes. Charlie
believed that because Gladys slept with Wilson, she must kno
more about him than anyone else; but she didn't
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As a journalist for the Roswell Daily Record, as well as
Wilson's mistress, she had been unable to resist asking hil
more than once about his past. She'd learned only that he h:
an aeronautical background, had never been married, and w.
the least emotional man she had ever known.

He was a mystery, all right - and most mysterious of all was
the fact that although he worked constantly in Goddard's
workshop, he had never once attended an actual rocke
launching and had even insisted that if she, Gladys, wanted t
keep seeing him, she had to ensure that his nhame was n
mentioned in connection with Goddard's work.

And God knows, she did want to see him again. She neede
to share his bed, was addicted, even against her bette
judgment, to what he could give her there. And what he gave
her there was something that sometimes shamed her -
sexual heat in which love had no place because he could n
conceive of it

He certainly wasn't a warm man, not impelled by finer
feelings, but his very lack of emotion was what made him sc
good in bed, so patient and controlled, more exciting as a love
than most of those she had known.

And he was sixty years old...

'You're not really involved when you do it,' she'd once told
him. 'You treat it as a functional endeavor, a mere form of
release. You're not involved on any other level - least of all
emotionally.'

'‘Count your blessings,' he'd replied with his familiar,
slightly superior smile. 'lt's because I'm not involved that | can
control myself until you're satisfied.'

You make me feel like an instrument of masturbation.'

‘That's what sex is,' he said.

No, not an emotional man - certainly not a romantic one -
yet it was true, as he had said, that his functional approach t
the act of love was what made his loveless sex so exciting. H
could keep going for hours - sometimes it seemed forever
and came to orgasm only when she begged him to do so.
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Thus his coldness, while depriving her of affection, made
the sex something special.

She had certainly needed it. He had come to town at the
right time. Gladys had been born and raised right here ir
Roswell, the only child of farming parents, and had married
too young to a man who, though decent in his way, had bore
her to tears. The marriage had been a disaster, coming to gri
on a bed of stone and producing no children. But when, five
years ago, her husband had died of a heart attack, followe
soon after by the death of both her parents, Gladys had fe
that her life was falling to pieces and took refuge in drink.

The drink had dulled her pain and shock, but also release
her from inhibitions, and she had taken up with a string of
different men, most of whom disappointed her. She toughene
up pretty fast, developed a pragmatic outlook, and charme
the proprietor of the Roswell Daily Record into trying her out
as a journalist It was the best thing she'd ever done, giving
her a sense of her own identity, and she'd buried the
disappointments of her life in her work for the paper. She
became a strong, independent woman easily bored, quick wit
her tongue, and discovered that a lot of men didn't like it anc
so shied away from her.

Not that she gave a damn - she didn't want to marry agair
But then Wilson had come to town, looking to work with
Goddard. Since, when Gladys met him through Goddard"
assistant, Charlie Mansur, he'd made it perfectly obvious tha
he was intimidated by no one, she'd thought him a breath o
fresh air and become involved with him.

It was not a romantic relationship, but it certainly had its
moments, and she enjoyed the sex and found Wilson intriguing
a real mystery man. So, she was well pleased.

Returning to the present, Gladys looked away from Mansul
as another car pulled up and Goddard's blond wife, Esthel
climbed out with her camera and equipment. Henry Sach:
filled the rocket's tanks with gasoline and 'lox," or liquid
oxygen, as Goddard greeted his wife. When Sachs ha
finished, Goddard checked the rocket's controls, connections,
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pressure tanks, and aluminum-sheathed oxygen tank, wave
to Larry Mansur in the distant observation post, then returnec
to the protected control shack with his wife and Sachs.

'Do | have to join them?' Gladys asked.

'‘No," Charlie replied. 'You're far enough away to be safe,
no matter what happens. But | have to join them.'

'You don't want me to get near Goddard, right?'

'Right, Gladys. Goddard's already mad that you're here, so
won't tempt the fates."'

Thanks, Charlie.'

'‘Okay, then.'

Charlie returned to the buttressed control shack as Esthe
Goddard put her camera on its tripod and pointed it through
hole in the shelter wall. Goddard looked at his watch and
started counting off the seconds, letting the pressure
generating tanks build up to two hundred pounds, anc
eventually, after what seemed to Gladys to be an eternity, gav
the order for the ignition to be fired.

Gladys knew he had done so when, from her vantage poir
well away from the launching tower, she heard a roaring nois
and saw flames shooting out from the base of the rocket. Th
rocket shook violently as if about to blow about, lifted up
slowly, reluctantly, then gained speed and suddenly shot oL
of the tower and soared toward the sky.

It climbed vertically, in a straight line, then veered south.
It kept climbing as it headed south, at about a thousand fee
then ascended even higher, caught the sun as it leveled out
two thousand feet, then curved down again and raced towar
earth. Its parachute didn't open, so it came down too fast
screeching and whistling, obviously out of control. It crashed
into the sands of the desert about half a mile away, explodin
in a great cloud of sand, its pieces scattering everywhere.

One of the men whooped with excitement, another bawled
The goddamned gyroscope!" and Henry Sachs had jumpe
into the touring sedan and was heading toward the scene ¢
the crash even before the cloud of sand had settled down.

Gladys looked at Goddard, where he stood behind the
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shelter, talking to his wife as she carefully checked her movie
camera. The great scientist was actually smiling, which mean
that most of the test had been successful - but then, when |
glanced over his shoulder at Gladys, his mournful face
registered disapproval that she was still there.

Not wanting to push her luck, and mystified by Wilson's
absence, Gladys started her car and drove back across Ed
Valley, heading south, toward Roswell.

Goddard's Mescalero Ranch was located on eight acres ¢
land, three miles northeast of Roswell. As Gladys pulled up in
front of the sprawling pueblo-style ranch house surroundec
by scrubby trees and desert, she was struck again by th
incongruity of Goddard and his rocket team being there, sc
close to the legendary Pecos River, where the men still wor
blue jeans, high-heeled boots, and broad-brimmed hats, whel
the pioneer trails still cut through the nearby town to the
borders of Mexico, and where the natives still talked about
the exploits of Billy the Kid and other legendary, local
desperadoes. She knew that Goddard had chosen this sf
because he needed a relatively high region free from fog, an
with a minimum of rain and snowfall - but even so, as she
climbed down from her car and walked toward the house, the
thought of rockets soaring over this barely modernized
territory seemed slightly unreal to her.

She didn't actually go to the house, but instead went to the
frame machine shop near it, where she guessed Wilson woul
be, as that's where he had slept during his stay here. Afte
glancing automatically at the small static frame and concrete
trough, called 'the bathtub,’ located a hundred feet away an
used for testing the rockets, she entered the unlocked machi
shop and found Wilson kneeling on the floor by the cot he slep
on.

He was packing his suitcase.

Shocked and confused, Gladys sucked in her breath -
sound loud enough to make Wilson stop what he was doin
and look up at her.
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His eyes were as blue as the sky above New Mexico, brigh
with an icy intelligence - and unnervingly steady.

'Hello, Gladys,' he said quietly.

'Hi,' she replied.

"You're back earlier than I'd expected.'

'So | see.

He glanced down at his suitcase, smiled thinly, then close
the case and stood up to gaze steadily at her.

'I'm leaving,' he said.

Gladys closed her eyes, feeling sick to her stomach. Chille
by the flat tone of his voice, she knew he meant what he said.

'‘Open your eyes,' he said. 'Don't be childish. You always
knew this would come. How did the test go?'

She opened her eyes and tried to see him for what he wa
His hair was silvery, his face handsome but ascetic, anc
although he was sixty years old, he looked twenty years
younger.

She only knew what he looked like.

'The test went okay,' she said. There was some probler
with the gyroscopic controls, but otherwise it was fine... You
were going to run away without telling me?'

'Yes,' he replied.

IWhy?l

'‘Because | didn't want any arguments. | told you that
someday I'd be going - and today is the day.'

'l didn't think you'd actually—'

'I'm not responsible for what you think - only for what | say.
And | told you that one day I'd be leaving and going alone/

'‘God, Wilson, you're hard.'

You've known that since you've known me.'

'| think I'm going to have to sit down.'

'Help yourself," Wilson said.

She took the chair at Goddard's old writing desk, next to
his lathe and workbench, lit a cigarette, exhaled a stream c
smoke, and squinted through it at Wilson. He was a tall man
as thin as his smile, and his blue gaze was steady.

'‘Okay,' she said, 'so you always told me you'd leave
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someday. But I still didn't think you'd go this way - deliberately
sending me out where I'm not wanted and then sneaking away.'

'| told you: | didn't want any arguments.'

‘It's human to argue.'

To be human is to err.’

'We are lovers, Wilson. That must count for something.’

But he merely shook his head, arguing an academic poin
‘No,' he said, 'I'm afraid it doesn't. At least, not for me. The
only thing that matters to me is my work - as I've told you
repeatedly.’

'Yes, Wilson, you've told me repeatedly. | just happened tc
think you might not mean it.'

'l always mean what | say.'

Gladys's heart was racing and she felt desolated, but whe
she saw the icy glint in his eyes, she knew it wouldn't mear
much to him. He would leave her as some people disown the
pets - and he would never look back.

Accepting that, she was able to protect herself by becomin
professional.

'You're a strange bird, Wilson.'

"You're free to think so.'

'I'm not the only one who thinks so. Goddard's men all think
you're strange.'

Wilson smiled mockingly. 'What can | say to that? I'm not
responsible for the thoughts of petty minds. What they think
is irrelevant'

‘They think you're the genius behind Goddard.'

"They're wrong: | was learning from him.'

"They think you know more about rockets than you let on -
and that only Goddard knows how much you know.'

Wilson simply smiled again. 'l have to go now, Gladys.'

'‘Does Goddard know you're going?'

'No.'

'Is this how you say good-bye to him? To a genius with
whom you've worked for six months? Is this how you thank
him?'

'I thanked him by working for him for free. Now that I've
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learned what | need to know, I've no reason to stay here.'

Shocked again at how truly cold Wilson was, Gladys blew anothe
cloud of smoke and watched it spiraling in front of her.

'So what did you need to know?' she asked him.

'What Goddard could teach me.’

‘About rockets?'

'Yes.'

'‘And what did you need to know that for?'

That's not your concern,' he said.

She looked intently at his blue eyes, trying to find what she ha
missed, but saw only a luminous intelligence, beyond rancor o
warmth.

'If you're so concerned with rocket technology,' she said, ‘why
not stay with Goddard?'

'‘Because this country always betrays its great scientists -an
will soon betray Goddard.'

'Does that mean you're going abroad?'

'Yes.'

'Where to?'

Wilson smiled. To where my own work will be appreciated.’

'And where's that?'

'l can't tell you.'

'I'm a journalist | can find out'

It won't help you.'

'l can also find out just who you are.'

That won't help you either. Now I've got to be going.'

He picked up his suitcase, gazed down at her, smiled thinly, the
walked out, not even kissing her good-bye. She had pride, but her he
betrayed her and she jumped out of Goddard's chair, then hurried
the doorway of the machine shop and looked into the morning
sun.

Wilson climbed into his battered Ford, turned on the ignition,
waved at her as if he were just going for a short trip, then drov
toward the town of Roswell, with its pioneer trails and still-burning
legends, to disappear into his unknown future and leave her a
alone again.

'‘God damn you!' she whispered.
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CHAPTER TWO

Ernst Stoll's heart was racing with anticipation when he saw
his girlfriend, Ingrid, already seated at a table by a window in
the Kranzier Cafe, Berlin. Feeling resplendent in his hew SS
uniform, almost like a movie star, he leaned over to kiss
Ingrid's cheek, lightly stroked her short-cropped blond hair,
then sat facing her and took hold of her hand.

You look lovely," he said, meaning it. His excitement was
raised by the pale beauty of her face, which was emphasize
by her wide-brimmed black hat, black jumper, and string of
pearls, all meant to match the new black coat she was wearin
'And that coat suits you perfectly,' he added, 'Did you get it in
Paris?'

'No," she said with a gentle smile. 'Right here, in the
Kurfurstendamm. Parisian fashions are frowned upon thes
days, so | made sure it was German. You look handsome i
your brand-new uniform - black suits you as well - though |
still wished you'd stayed with the Reichswehr, instead of
joining the SS.'

‘Let's have coffee and strudel,' he suggested, deliberatel
changing the subject, not wanting this particular day to be
spoiled with even a small disagreement Yes?'

'Yes, Ernst.’

He called the waitress, gave her the order, then glance
out at the busy corner of the Unter den Linden and the
Friedrichstrasse, its snow turned to slush by the many car
and pedestrians. When he returned his attention to Ingrid"
green gaze, he was overcome by his love for her.

21



W. A. Harbinson

'You look excited,' she told him.

'It's seeing you," he replied.

~ 'No, Ernst, I don't think that's what it is. We both know what it
is.'

He was grateful that she realized and didn't mind too much
Today was January 30, 1933. It would be a memorable day fc
Germany and already it was starting. Right now, Hitler and
Goring were in the Chancellery with von Papen and
Hindenburg, and the street between the Kaiserhof and th
Chancellery was crowded with people. Before the day was ou
Hitler would be the Chancellor of the Third Reich. A new era
was dawning.

'l didn't expect to see you today,' Ingrid said. 'l was
surprised to get your message. | thought you'd gone home fc
the fortnight'

‘I couldn't miss this day," he told her. 'And my parents
understood. My father still doesn't approve, of course - he
thinks I've betrayed my middle-class origins - but my mother
recently joined the National Socialist Party, in secret, which |
think is amusing.'

' don't,' Ingrid said. 'A divided family isn't amusing. Your
beloved National Socialist Party, which has already divided the
country, is now dividing individual families. Do you think it's
amusing?'

'l didn't mean it that way," Ernst said, feeling a little
embarrassed.

'‘No, I'm sure you didn't,' she said with soft sarcasm, then
perhaps realizing how she sounded, gently changed th
subject. 'So, how is your family, Ernst?'

At that moment, the waitress returned with their coffee and
strudel. They're fine,' Ernst said, pouring the coffee from the
pot and thinking of his family home in Heidelberg, a grand
house with fine gardens on the lower slopes of the majesti
Odenwald. 'Father's sold his architectural firm and seem:
happy to have moved out of Mannheim - and Mother likes it
as well.'

'I'm glad,’ Ingrid said, 'though I'm also glad that | saw the
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old house in Mannheim before it was sold - the house yoL
were brought up in. There aren't many like that these days.'

Ernst knew what she meant. His father had been one of th
most successful architects in Germany - his work conserva
tively based on neo-Renaissance and the 'safe' classicism
Ludwig Hoffmann - and his house in Mannheim, where he hac
spent most of his life, was a spacious residence built aroun
an elaborate courtyard and guarded by wrought-iron gates
Within that imposing home, Ernst had been brought up to trea
as perfectly natural enormous neo-Gothic rooms, Frenct
furniture, Empire upholstery, fireplaces faced with valuable
Delft tiles, glittering chandeliers, maids with white caps, black
dresses, and white aprons, and even butlers in purple liver
with gilt buttons. Certainly, as Ingrid had noted, there weren't
many houses like that these days - but the very opulence
the lifestyle is what had driven Ernst away from it and into the
National Socialist Party, thus outraging his father as well as
upsetting Ingrid.

He couldn't explain what attracted him to Hitler because
he wasn't too sure what the appeal was. He only knew fo
certain that he'd been swept up in a tide of enthusiasn
generated by his fellow students, first in the Institute of
Technology in Munich, then in the University of Berlin, where
he had been studying rocket technology under Professor Ka
Emil Becker.

If he'd had any doubts at all about National Socialism they'c
been swept away when, during his final semester at the
university, he had attended an address that Hitler hac
delivered, in the Hasenheide Beer Hall, to the students o
Berlin University and the Institute of Technology.

At first not impressed by the Charles Chaplin look-alike in a
plain blue suit, who started speaking almost shyly in that
dirty, gloomy beer hall, Ernst had soon been mesmerized b
the rising passion of his rhetoric. He was astounded to finc
himself bawling and clapping with many other students in a
spontaneous outburst of enthusiasm. A few days later, unabl
to forget that mesmeric performance, he had joined the
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NSDAP; then, a few months after that, he dropped out of the
university to join the army as a commissioned officer with the
Weapons Office. When recently offered a transfer to the elite
SS, he had been thrilled beyond measure.

You're looking very thoughtful,' he said to Ingrid, who was
staring straight at him in her disconcerting manner,

'l was thinking what a pity it is that you dropped out of
university in order to look handsome in such a uniform. You
wanted to be an engineer, Ernst, and now you're a policeman.'

'A soldier,' he corrected her, perhaps too firmly. The SS
isn't the Gestapo. Please bear that in mind. The Gestapo is t
Secret Police organization, run by Goring. SS stands for Schui
Staffel, or Guard Detachment, and the SS, created by Himmle
is Hitler's personal bodyguard - not a secret police force.'

Ingrid shrugged. 'lt's still sad, Ernst. And | still don't
understand why you did it, apart from naivete.'

He felt a flash of anger, but tried to conceal it. 'As | told you
before, | joined the army because | wanted to be a rocke
engineer, and the army is the best place to do that.'

That much | understand.' She brushed the blond hair fron
her green eyes, gazed out at the busy corner of the Unter d
Linden and Friedrichstrasse, then returned her quizzical gaz
to him. 'But | still don't understand why you then had to join
the SS, which, whether a police force or Hitler's personal
bodyguard, is not the place for a promising young engineer.'

‘Because,’ Ernst lied blatantly, it is the elite of the army and |
only want to be in the best. It's as simple as that!'

In fact, what he couldn't explain to her was the bitterness
he had felt ever since being rejected by the German amate
rocket society, the VfR, whose members included not
amateurs, as the title implied, but most of the leading rocke
experts of the day.

Also known as the Spaceship Travel Club, the VfR had come
into being in 1927 when a group of brilliant space-travel
enthusiasts had taken over an abandoned three-hundred-ac
arsenal, which they called their Raketenflugplataz, or Rocke
Flight Place, in the Berlin suburb of Reindickerdorf, from
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where they actually shot some crude, liquid-fueled rockets
skyward. Intrigued by the success of the VIR, which by 1930
included rocket experts Rudolf Nebel, Willy Ley, Hermann
Oberth, and Klaus Riedel, the Ordnance Branch of the army'
Ballistic and Weapons Office, headed by General Becker, ha
appointed Captain Walter Dornberger to create a rocket
development project at the army's firing range at
Kummersdorf, about fifteen miles south of Berlin. It was now
widely assumed by those involved with rocketry that as soor
as Hitler came to power (which he almost certainly would
today), the VIR would be disbanded by the Nazis and becom
part of the Kummersdorf program.

Ernst had desperately wanted to be part of the VIR,
irrespective of who controlled it. After his rejection because
of his lack of practical experience, his bitterness had beel
made more acute when Wernher von Braun, a fellow pupil a
the university, had been accepted.

Thus, when Ernst was persuaded by a friend that working
with the SS technical intelligence group would at least give him
the opportunity to keep in touch with the rocket program and
perhaps, in time, even give him authority over it, he had nof
been able to resist asking for the transfer.

'Listen,' he said to Ingrid, covering his anger with a broad
smile and taking hold of her hand again, T can't wait any
longer. Let's go and see what's happening at the Chanceller
There's bound to be a decision soon - and | want to be ther
when it's announced.'

Ingrid's smile, though still loving, was also slightly mocking.
'You want to be a part of history, Ernst?'

'Yes, Ingrid, | do.'

She acknowledged his enthusiasm with a defeated shru
of her shoulders. 'Then let's go, Ernst!'

As they hurried along the snow-covered Unter den Linden,
past its elegant shops and many pedestrians and the noisy flc
of traffic, Ernst glanced frequently at Ingrid's flushed face, its
beauty now emphasized by the raised fur collar of her blacl
overcoat and broad-brimmed hat He loved her dearly, though
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they often disagreed, particularly when they talked about
politics and general morality. They seemed opposites, then.

She came from a good family in the wealthy Berlin suburb
of Wannsee - but she didn't believe, as he did, in the Natione
Socialist Party. She was a liberal, like his father, believed in
her own class, and could not be convinced that Hitler woulc
create a new, better Germany. Even now, when they wer
supposed to be in love, she and Ernst fought a lot about th
issue, which wounded him deeply.

As they approached the corner of Berlin's finest shoppinc
street and heard the sudden roaring of the crowd that had fille
the Wilhelmstrasse, Ernst knew that they had just missed th
announcement he had wanted to hear. Nevertheless, |
practically dragged Ingrid around the corner, into the
Wilhelmstrasse, where, between the Kaiserhof and the
Chancellery, the great crowd was tramping the snow to slusl
and roaring approval.

Stopping by the Ministry of Justice, facing the Presidential
Residence, Ernst received confirmation from a jubilant fellow
citizen that Hindenburg had resigned and Adolf Hitler had just
been sworn in as Chancellor of Germany.

Ernst whooped with joy, swept Ingrid up in his arms, and
spun her around on the pavement.

'Wunderbar?' he exclaimed.

Any doubts about love or compatibility were swept away in the
fervor of the rest of that memorable day. Ernst had no soone
released Ingrid from his embrace than he saw Adolf Hitler
standing upright in the back of his open-topped car as it crep
slowly through the mass of people in the Wilhelmstrasse,
taking him back to the Kaiserhof. Shouting himself hoarse like
all the others, Ernst watched his hero being driven past, the
embraced Ingrid again, kissed her passionately, and realize
thaﬁ the excitement was contagious and finally getting througt
to her.

Excited, they went for lunch, got drunk on beer and
schnapps, then took a room in the Adlon Hotel, where their
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faces were known. They made drunken, passionate love
uninhibited by doubts, and Ernst thought that he would die in
Ingrid's body, with its smooth, burning skin, perfect breasts,
and sublime, pale-white legs. They broke apart drenched i
sweat, breathing harshly, exhausted, and he felt that he he
died and been reborn and could never stop loving her.

You're magnificent,' he told her.

Then he had to leave to take part in the torchlit parade the
spelled the end of that great day.

Darkness was falling on the city when, with thousands of
other troops, all in uniform and with many wearing their
swastikas, Ernst started marching from the Tiergarten.
Accompanied by the beating of drums and the blare of martia
music, they passed under the Brandenburg Gate, and the
continued down to Wilhelmstrasse, where hundreds of young
men were hanging from the railings or perched like birds in
the trees.

Raising his voice with those thousands of others in the
'Horst Wessel Lied' and other patriotic songs, Ernst soor
found himself in the torchlit darkness outside the Presidentia
Palace, where a weary Hindenburg raised his hands in salut
Then the crowd moved to the Reichchancellery where, tc
Ernst's immense joy, Hitler appeared at a window to look dowr
fondly on his men and acknowledge with a smile their
triumphant chanting of 'Heil, Heil, Sieg Heil"

Hitler smiled and raised his right hand and the massec
troops roared acknowledgment. Then Hitler went back inside
and Ernst lowered his gaze - away from that lighted window,
from the fluttering red and black flags, from the torches that
had formed a river of fire in the Wilhelmstrasse ... and saw
Ingrid emerging from the crowd, her eyes bright with
excitement, her arms outstretched as the drums continue
pounding and the noise became deafening.

She threw herself into his arms and clung to him as he
stroked her light-blond hair.

'Oh, Ingrid!" he said passionately. 'A great day! The future is
ours! Let's get married at once!’
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'Yes!' she whispered, clinging to him, part of him. 'Yes,
Ernst, let's do it!"
Their hearts beat like the drums.
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CHAPTER THREE

'Yes,' Mike Bradley said, thinking about Gladys Kinder instead
of the facts as he gazed out the window of General Taylor"
office at the other buildings being constructed on the slopinc
green fields of Langley Field, Virginia. 'l told him we were
about to form a National Advisory Committee on Aeronautics
and were considering a team that would include him and othe
aeronautical geniuses, such as Charles Lindbergh and Orvill
Wright - and the legendary Robert H. Goddard still showed
no interest He just doesn't give a damn.'

'Why?"' Taylor asked pragmatically.

'‘Because he doesn't trust anyone," Bradley replied with ¢
frustrated shrug of his broad shoulders, remembering the
polite, suspicious voice he had heard over the telephone, whe
he had called from his office on Wall Street 'Reportedly he
patents every damned thing he invents, is notoriously secretiv
and uncooperative with his fellow scientists, feels that many
of his ideas have been stolen by them, notably those ir
Germany, and will take help only from organizations like the
Smithsonian Institution, which lets him do whatever he wants.
In fact, he's even refused the assistance of the Californi
Institute of Technology Rocket Research Project and has bee
relying instead on the inadequate funding of Clark University in
Worcester, where he teaches physics when he's not working c
his rockets."

Though according to Charles Lindbergh," General Taylor
pointed out, 'whom | met here just yesterday, Goddard ha
recently accepted some other help.'
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True enough,” Bradley said. With Lindbergh's
recommendation he was recently able to get a Guggenheir
Foundation grant for $2,500, which enabled him to leave Clark
and return to Roswell, New Mexico.'

Where Gladys Kinder lives, he thought. He'd been unable
to stop thinking about her since their brief meeting. It's
ridiculous, he thought. You're being ridiculous. She's just a
sharp-tongued lady from a cow town and you're imagining things
Though he couldn't help wondering...

'Is that where he was when you phoned him? Back in
Roswell?'

'‘No," Bradley said. 'He hadn't returned there yet He was
still at Clark.'

'If what you say is true, he thinks that if he joins our
proposed National Advisory Committee on Aeronautics, he'll
have to share his precious ideas with us.'

‘That's my bet,’ Bradley said.

General Taylor smiled laconically. 'Sounds like a
burgeoning crackpot,' he said.

'‘But a brilliant one, General - and one you could do with
on your side. Since a major function of the committee will be
to assess the military possibilities of aeronautical develop-
ments around the world, a man of Goddard's background an
reputation would be invaluable to you - not only for his
technical knowledge, but also as a public relations weapon.'

'Well, we'll just have to get along without him.'

'l guess so,' Bradley said.

The sound of hammering from outside momentarily
distracted the general and made him glance out the window
Following his gaze, Bradley saw some men in coveralls
kneeling on the roof of the adjoining building as they expertly
nailed down some more beams. When these buildings wer
completed, they would house the new National Advisory
Committee on Aeronautics as well as a branch of the too
informal army air force intelligence. General Taylor was
currently the head and Bradley was an increasingly
enthusiastic, but unofficial, agent of the intelligence unit.
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'It's interesting that he should be so concerned with Germa
rocket development,’ the general said, returning his thoughtfu
gaze to Bradley, 'since that's also what we're concerned wit
right now.’

The Pentagon isn't, Bradley replied. 'Since the White
House has adopted an isolationist stance regarding Europ
there's no Pentagon interest in German weaponry.'

'| can't speak for the whole of the Pentagon, let alone the
White House,' Taylor said, 'but | think | can say with confi-
dence that we in military intelligence are concerned with the
growing militarism of Germany - particularly since Hitler was
elected chancellor. It's not our belief that America will be
involved in European politics per se, but there's certainly beel
enough concern to cause the air force to informally gathel
information on aeronautical developments in Hitler's new
Germany and, especially, on any further developments
regarding the—' The general glanced down at the notes o
his desk. The Verein fur Raumschiffart, or VfR,' he read, then
looked up again

'Right,’ Bradley said. The German amateur rocket society.'

'It's wonderful,' the general said with a slight, sardonic
smile, 'how bright boys like you can bring back such
interesting information from their vacations in Europe.'

Bradley knew what the general was getting at He had been
highly decorated pilot during the Great War who had left the
service in the mistaken belief that he was becoming too olc
for it and needed a more settled life. So, he studied law
married Joan, had two kids, Mark and Miriam... As a
successful lawyer, specializing in the drafting of complex
agreements between government departments and civilia
aeronautical research establishments, he had becon
increasingly bored with Wall Street and started calling his old
military buddies to ask them for work, official or otherwise,
that was more important and exciting.

Convinced that matters in Europe would eventually lead to
another world war, he had used his Ivy League Wall Stree
friends to build up strong connections in Washington, DC, and
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London. Eventually he managed to convince the army's chief o
staff, General Douglas MacArthur, to let him embark on an
unofficial intelligence-gathering trip to Europe, in the guise of
studying international laws relating to aeronautics.

During that trip, in 1932, aided by some old friends who
were now with the well-organized British Intelligence Service,
he had traveled extensively and reported, in particular, on th
growing militarism of Germany. What he had seen there hac
shocked him and made him fear for the free world. He no
longer shared his own government's confidence that Americ:
could stay out of Europe - certainly not if the National
Socialists, under Hitler, got what they wanted - and upon his
return to the United States had insisted in his lengthy repor
that the country must prepare itself for inevitable involvement in
another world war.

While his report had not been taken seriously by the White
House, since then General Taylor had used him as an unoffici:
agent between Taylor's army air force intelligence branch an
British intelligence, as well as a legal adviser, general
administrator, and headhunter for the soon-to-be formec
National Advisory Committee on Aeronautics - which is why
Bradley had made his recent, unsuccessful trip to Robert
Goddard in Roswell, New Mexico.

'‘But why would our air force be interested in a bunch of
amateurs?' General Taylor now asked, after a thoughtfu
pause.

'‘Because they're not amateurs,’ Bradley told him. 'The
Verein fur Raumschiffart was founded in 1927 and soon
included most of the rocket experts of the day, including
Hermann Oberth, Max Valier, Rudolf Nebel, Willy Ley, and
Klaus Riedel.'

The general gave a low whistle of respect. "That's some
bunch of scientists," he said. 'What were they up to?"

'We know that a number of small liquid-fueled rockets were
fired from their testing ground in the Berlin suburb of
Reinickerdorf. Then, in April 1930, Captain Walter Dornberger
was appointed to the Ordnance Branch of the German Army's
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Ballistics and Weapons Office, headed by one General Becke
Dornberger was to work on rocket development at the army"
Kummersdorf firing range, approximately fifteen miles south
of Berlin. Two years later the VR demonstrated one of their
liquid-fueled rockets to Dornberger and other officers at
Kummersdorf.'

'I'm surprised | haven't heard of this,' Taylor said, sounding
slightly aggrieved.

'‘Maybe that's because recently, with Hitler's support, the
Gestapo moved in and overnight the VfR ceased to exist as
civilian organization.'

'‘But it's now being used by the army.'

'Right. A lot of its members, including the reportedly up-
and-coming Wernher von Braun, were taken under Dorn-
berger's wing and began working at Kummersdorf in strict
secrecy.’

'‘Ah," the general said softly, 'so that's why our air force is
concerned!

‘Damned right," Bradley said. 'And if they knew what | just
learned in Roswell, they'd be even more concerned.'

'‘And what was that, Mike?'

'Since Goddard was so damned suspicious and frosty ove
the phone,' Bradley explained, thinking again of Gladys Kinder
and feeling distinctly guilty, 'l visited Roswell in order to
interview those who had known him there - his engineers, the
local townsfolk, and so forth. Anyway, over the week | spent
there, | became increasingly concerned with the fact tha
Goddard, with so little assistance either financially or from
fellow scientists, had managed to make such extraordinan
advances in rocket research. Then, shortly after the fina
launch, | was introduced to a woman—"'

'l won't tell your wife that,' the general interjected.

Bradley grinned, as if appreciating the joke, but immedi-
ately he was consumed by the guilt he had been trying to keep
bay ever since his meeting with Gladys Kinder.

The proprietor of the Roswell Daily Record had put him in
touch with her. They'd met in the bar of his hotel. He was
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instantly intrigued by her air of worldly cynicism. In the course of
a conversation about Goddard's rocket team, he'd becorr
uncomfortably attracted to her, which she had soon realized.

She had passed a few mischievous remarks to that effe
and actually managed to make him blush.

She was tall and lean and had a head of short-cropped brow
hair, which made her seem slightly mannish, and gray eye:
that were disconcertingly steady over a full-lipped, sardonic
smile. She had been wearing a long, belted dress, with higf
heeled boots and a Stetson hat He, in his gray suit, portly an
not too tall, in his mid-thirties and starting to show it - though
thankfully he still had his hair - had felt soft and pampered in
her attractively casual presence.

You didn't meet women like that in New York — and besides,
he just liked her.

Now, when he recalled her and also thought of his
attractive, good-humored wife, Joan, who lovingly looked after
their home and children in Connecticut he felt as guilty as if
he had had an affair, which he certainly had not done.

He had simply been tempted, that's all... So why should h
feel guilty?

'The woman, Gladys Kinder,' he continued uneasily, Vas
a journalist for one of the local papers, the Daily Record. When |
said I'd spent the past week checking up on Goddard and h
old launching grounds in Eden Valley, she told me that two
years ago she'd had an affair with another physicist who'c
stayed with Goddard for six months, spent most of that time
working and sleeping in Goddard's machine shop, and wa
considered by most of Goddard's men to have been ver
influential on Goddard's work. Those facts were later
confirmed in my discussions with some of the rocket team.'

Even now, as he spoke to the general, Bradley thought i
odd that the mention of Gladys Kinder as Wilson's mistress
should make him feel slightly resentful and, perhaps, ever
jealous. It was too ridiculous for words, but he couldn't deny
the feeling; and when he recalled her sly smile in the hotel*
gloomy bar, her droll mockery of his obvious confusion in her
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sensual presence, he was irresistibly seduced by her image a
wanted to see her again.

Crazy. Just crazy...

'What was this woman's name?' the general asked, picking up t
pen and staring with what Bradley, in the guilty panic of his
thoughts, imagined was accusing intensity.

'Kinder,' Bradley replied, feeling a helpless stab of desire and it
bed partner, guilt 'Gladys Kinder.'

‘Kinder,' the general murmured, writing the name down. 'Gladys
Kinder,’ he emphasized, as if deliberately tormenting Bradley
'Mmmm..." he murmured, studying the name thoughtfully before
putting his pen back down, looking up again, and saying 'So
what about him?'

'Pardon?'

The physicist that the Kinder woman told you about'

'Ah, yes..."' Bradley gathered his thoughts together. 'Miss Kinde
told me that when the physicist had left for good after the rocke
launching of December 31, 1930, Goddard had confessed to h
that his mysterious, temporary assistant was a, guote, genius, who t
helped him develop many of his more notable innovations, includin
liquid-fueled, self-cooled motors, gyroscopes for guidance an
contral, lightweight fuel pumps, and reflector vanes to help
stabilize and steer the rockets. The guy's name was Jot
Wilson.'

Interesting,’ General Taylor said, writing that name down also
then popping some gum into his mouth and starting to chew, 'but
can't see what relevance all this has to Adolf Hitler's Germany.'

'Well, | can't be too sure of this,' Bradley replied, 'but | do have
my worries there.'

'‘Don't tease me, Mike.'

Well, for a start this John Wilson's a complete mystery. No one ¢
Roswell knew where he came from, Wilson wasnt about to tell then
and even Goddard swore he didn't know anything about him, othe
than the fact that he was extraordinarily knowledgeable abou
physics and aeronautics, just turned up at the ranch one da
showed Goddard some of his own
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drawings, and then asked if he could help him with the rocke
project. As for Wilson's journalist friend, Gladys Kinder—'

He couldn't avoid the name, and it brought back all his guilt.

'—even though she was his mistress during that six months
she learned only that he had an engineering background ar
loathed the US government for reasons that he neve
explained. She also learned, just before Wilson's abrup
departure, that he intended leaving the United States for goo
and going to a country where people like him and Goddarc
would be appreciated, instead of being treated as cranks.'

There was more loud hammering from outside and Generz
Taylor, after wincing, said, 'l can't stand this goddamned noise
Mike. Do you fancy a walk?'

'Sure,' Bradley said, feeling trapped with his recollections of
Gladys and glad to escape. 'Why not?'

They left the office and walked outside, where the noise of
the workers was even louder and the sun shone over the fl:
green fields. Relieved to feel the fresh air, Bradley followed
the general away from the skeletal buildings and their many
workers, down toward the banks of the Potomac River.

'So where do you think your mysterious genius, this Mr
Wilson, went?' General Taylor asked, striding across the gras
and glancing keenly around him.

‘A lot of the German engineers,' Bradley said, 'including
Wernher von Braun, revere Goddard and are known to hav
based their work on his ideas. Our mysterious John Wilsor
would certainly have known that- and would also have known
that while here, in the United States, Goddard's theories wer
being treated with contempt, Germany was spending fortune
on rocket research that was, by and large, based on his work.'

'So you think this Wilson went to Germany.'

'l don't think it - | know it | checked yesterday with the
Immigration Department and learned that one John Wilson lef
this country on January 20, 1931, that he stayed in London fo
a few weeks in early March of that year, and that he appliec
for a German visa that same month. According to British
immigration records, a US citizen called John Wilson left
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England by a boat sailing for Bremen, Germany, on April 5,
1931. There's no other record of his movements.'

"You mean, you think he's still there, in Germany.'

'Yes.'

'Have you checked with the German authorities?'

'They deny all knowledge of him.'

'‘But you think they're lying.'

'Yes. | think he's still there - and if he is, and if he's working on
rocket research, we should be concerned.’

They stopped by the edge of the river and looked across t
the other side. The fields that stretched out on all sides wer
flat, densely forested, and sun-splattered. There were bird
flying overhead.

You're my best man for intelligence gathering,” General
Taylor reminded him, 'so perhaps you can track him down.'

'I'm not so sure,' Bradley said, feeling the itch of frustration.
'We're talking about Hitler's Third Reich. One man on his own
can't do much with this kind of problem. That's why we need &
central intelligence-gathering organization,” he continued,
warming to his favorite theme. The goddamned Brits have ar
intelligence system that puts us to shame. The last thing w
had that remotely resembled an intelligence agency wa:
Herbert Yardley's Black Chamber - which was only a
codebreaking unit - and since that was closed down in 192¢
we haven't had a damned thing to replace it. Which is
doubtless why Yardley wrote his best-selling book exposing
our so-called secrets - and why New York federal marshals
the goddamned idiots, have just raided the offices of a perfectl
respectable publisher to impound Yardley's second book.'

The general laughed heartily at that one, then said, Th
way you pronounce the word "idiots", Mike, reminds me that
you're an Irish-American.’

'Ha ha,' Bradley responded, but warmly, without malice. He
was proud of his background and not ashamed of what he he
become, which is not what he should have been. Although hi
uneducated grandparents had emigrated from Ireland and he
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had been raised as a Roman Catholic, Bradley had gon
against convention by becoming a staunch member of th
Republican party, instead of a Democrat, which most of the
Irish were. He had also, after winning numerous awards fol
distinguished service in the battlefields of France in the Grea
War become a very successful lawyer, with his own law firm
on Wall Street So, yes, he was proud of his background an
achievements - and knew that General Taylor, his close frienc
had great respect for him.

'‘Anyway," the general said, wincing when the hammering
on the distant buildings started again, 'you were starting to talk
blue streak, so don't let me stop you.'

This guy, Wilson," Bradley continued, 'who is possibly an
aeronautical genius, has gone off to sell his talents to a countr
whose whole interest in science is geared to its aggressiv
potential - in other words, Hitler's Third Reich.’

'So?"' Taylor asked.

'So, since the Third Reich is devoted to war, we should be
keeping tabs on Wilson - but we can't do it because we don
have the necessary intelligence-gathering organization.'

'‘But we do have that'

'‘No," Bradley insisted, 'we don't. What we have is an
uncoordinated collection of different intelligence agencies -
Army Intelligence, or G2; the Office of Naval Intelligence; the
FBI; the Secret Service; the State Department; the Custom
and Immigration services; the Federal Communications
System Service; and the Treasury's Foreign Funds Contrc
Unit - not one of which deals with the others, let alone
recognizing them.'

'So?'

'So what we need is a centralized, coordinated intelligence
like the British Secret Intelligence Service.'

'A sort of Central Intelligence Agency,' Taylor said.

'Right, General. You got it!'

'‘Ah!' the general exclaimed softly. 'So that's why you came
all the way from New York to see me, instead of using the
phone. You want to ride your favorite hobbyhorse again and
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persuade me to include you in the formation of a proper,
coordinated intelligence-gathering agency. Have | got it right,
Mike?'

"Yeah, General, you have. I'm a highly successful, thirty-
eight-year-old lawyer with a plush office in Manhattan, but the
best time | ever had in my life was during the war.'

'So | gathered,' the general said. The Distinguished Servic
Cross, the Distinguished Service Medal, and the Medal of
Honor...'

'Right," Bradley interjected. 'Which proves that I'm a
survivor - and that I'm willing to hang in when the chips are
down.'

'‘No argument there," the general murmured. '‘Come on, let’
head back.'

They started walking away from the river, back to where
the men with the saws and hammers and nails were swarmir
like flies over the frames of buildings that would soon house &
branch of army air force intelligence and the new National
Advisory Committee on Aeronautics.

When Bradley thought of aeronautics, he thought of Johr
Wilson; and when he thought of that mysterious genius, he
also thought, with guilty, helpless longing, of Wilson's mistress -
the middle-age, laconic, and undeniably attractive Gladys
Kinder.

He just couldn't help himself.

‘Anyway,' he said, 'my kids are growing up, they're both
now away at college, and although | still have Joan, I'm borec
with my legal work. I'm also, as you know, deeply convinced
that America will, sooner or later, have to become involved
with the outside world. | accepted your offer of unofficial
intelligence gathering in Europe because | hoped that it woulc
lead to stronger ties with the intelligence services already
existing over there. And having been there, I'm more
convinced than ever that we need a central intelligence
gathering agency - and | happen to know that you believe the
also and have even discussed it'

"You know more than you should,' General Taylor said,
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‘which is, of course, why we should take you on on a more
permanent basis.'

They skirted around the building site and stopped by
Bradley's car, which was parked just outside General Taylor"
office, gleaming in sunlight.

‘Are you in the process of forming such an agency?' Bradle)
asked as he slipped into his car.

'Very early stages,' the general replied, 'but the shor
answer is yes.'

'And can | be part of it?'

'Yes - when the time comes. In the meantime, you better ge
on the trail of this John Wilson. If we can't yet find out what he's
doing in Germany, you might at least find out where he came
from and just who he is.'

"I will,’ Bradley said.

He watched the general walk back into his office, then drove
away, feeling a lot better, disturbed only when he thought of
Gladys Kinder and her relationship with Wilson.

'‘Goddammit!" he whispered.
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The two men came for Wilson at the Zeppelin Works at
Friedrichshafen at eight in the morning and escorted him ou
of the factory without a word. Both men were wearing the
black uniforms of the SS, and not those of the Gestapo, whic
Wilson took for a good sign. He felt no fear and asked no
guestions when, outside the factory, they ordered him up intc
the back of a canvas-topped truck that already contained

collection of men and women, none of whom looked too happy
and some of whom were actually in handcuffs. Wilson sat
between a Frenchman who tugged nervously at his peaked c:
and a Jewish woman whose dark eyes glowed with dread, the
the truck growled into life and began its journey to Berlin.

Two armed soldiers sat at the end of the truck, to ensur
that no one tried to escape.

Wilson, who did not wish to escape, merely smiled at the
sight of them.

The journey began in the gray mist of morning and ended ir
the evening, with the streetlights illuminating the monolithic
architecture of Berlin. In that long eight hours they had beer
driven a great distance, from Friedrichshafen on the nortt
shore of Lake Constance to steely-gray Munich, from there tc
Nuremberg, still somber in the noonday sun, then across th
majestic, forested hills of Thuringia, with the shadows of the
trees lengthening in the deepening light of afternoon, ther
throlugh Dessau as darkness was falling and eventually int
Berlin.

Wilson had taken it all in from the back of the truck, every
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glimpse he could get through the canvas flapping near the tw
soldiers, and had noticed, especially, the many troop trucks o
the roads, the armed soldiers in even the smallest towns. H
was reminded, beyond any shadow of doubt, that this
country was set for war.

It was just what he needed.

Throughout the journey, the two guards had said little to
the prisoners, other than ushering them in and out of the truc
two or three times to enable them to eat or go to the toilet
They had done this in a distant but reasonably civilized
manner, but now, as they kept their charges covered whils
escorting them from the truck into a large, official-looking
building, they both became noticeably more tense anc
officious, barking their orders and even hitting some of the
prisoners with the butts of their rifles when they failed to move
quickly enough.

Once inside the building, which was gloomily lit and
drearily institutional, the predominance of immaculate black
uniforms, gleaming boots, and blond hair made it obvious tha
this was SS headquarters.

One of the female prisoners started weeping and a mal
crossed himself, but Wilson, as he had done that morning, took
as a good sign that he was in the hands of the SS, which |
had wanted, and not the Gestapo.

The prisoners in handcuffs were led away. Wilson and the
others were told to sit on the wooden benches lining the wall:
of a gloomy corridor. A golden-haired SS sergeant took their
identity papers, disappeared through a door, and returne
shortly after to lead Wilson away from where he had been
sitting, between the dark-eyed Jewish woman and the
unshaven Frenchman who had constantly murmured to Go
for deliverance. Glad to be rid of them, Wilson was even more
pleased when he was escorted into an office and made to st
before the desk of a man he recognized from his many
photographs in the newspapers - the head of the SS, Heinric
Himmler.

He did not raise his head when Wilson was escorted in, but
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continued to study the papers on his desk. Wilson recognize

his own handwriting and the technical sketches he hac
included with his lengthy letter, and smiled, feeling pleased
with himself, until Himmler looked up at him.

Wilson immediately removed the smile from his face and
looked deeply respectful.

Himmler sighed, as if weary. He had bland, decent features,
neatly trimmed mustache, and gray-blue eyes whose
mildness was emphasized by his glistening pince-nez
spectacles. He was a man without vanity or cruelty or lust -
but Wilson knew, the minute he saw those eyes, that he wa
also quite mad.

It was what Wilson needed.

'So," Himmler said, 'you are Wilson - John Wilson - an
American citizen.'

'Yes, Herr Himmler," Wilson replied in perfect German.

'Reichsfuhrer," Himmler corrected him mildly.

'Sorry, Reichsfuhrer.'

'‘And you've been living in Germany, under an assumed
name and with forged German identification papers, for the
past three years. This is correct?'

'Yes, Reichsfuhrer.'

'‘And as this fictitious German citizen, you've been doing
important research work on advanced gyroscopic controls
with the subsonic windtunnel at the Zeppelin Works in
Friedrichshafen.'

'Yes, sir.'

Himmler offered a slight, chilling smile. 'You realize, Hen-
Wilson, that these are criminal offenses - that you could evelr
be labeled as a spy and executed accordingly.’

'‘My purpose isn't spying, Reichsfuhrer, as the notes anc
drawings | sent you clearly prove.'

'Ah, yes... the notes and drawings.' Himmler adjusted the
spectacles on his nose and glanced down at Wilson's papel
When he raised his eyes again, he was still smiling in tha
slight, chilling manner. 'What these notes prove, Mr Wilson,
according to my aeronautical advisers, is that you are an
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extraordinarily brilliant physicist and engineer. What they fail to
prove is that you are not here on behalf of your government - ir
other words, as a spy.'

' have no reason to love the American government - anc
my only interest in life is my work. That's why I'm here.'

Himmler stared steadily at him, with a cold curiosity, then
smiled bleakly and indicated the chair in front of his desk.
'Please,' he said. Take a seat. Can | fetch you some tea?"

‘No, thanks," Wilson said as he sat down and studied th
powerful, soft-faced lunatic across the desk. 'l drink as little as
possible.’

'‘And hardly eat, so I've been told. Does that explain your
remarkably youthful appearance?

‘It helps," Wilson said, not forgetting for a moment that
Himmler, former fertilizer salesman and chicken farmer, was
quietly obsessed with all kinds of esoteric theories, including
astrology and runes, the secret of the pyramids, the spirit o
the eternal Wandervogel, Horbiger's world of ice and fire, and.
of course, the magical properties of certain diets. 'l eat an
drink only the bare minimum,' he clarified, ‘though I find that
the odd glass of white wine can be beneficial.'

"You speak flawless German," Himmler said. 'When and
where did you learn it?'

'l learned it here, in Germany, Reichsfuhrer.’

Himmler raised his eyebrows to display his scepticism.
'Here, Mr Wilson? In the Fatherland? In a mere three years?
would think that even an adolescent, let alone a man your ag
would have trouble in being so fluent in our difficult tongue
after such a short period.'

'I have a retentive memory,' Wilson explained, ‘and | learned i
in three years. We didn't even learn French in lowa, let alone
German. I've learned it since coming here.’

He was impatient with the question, since languages cam
easily to him. He had never experienced difficulty in learning
anything, so could not abide ignorance. And languages
compared to mathematics or science, were merely child's play.

'‘Ah, yes,' Himmler said, forgetting the vexing question of
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language. 'lowa! The heartland of America. Which is where
you came from.'

'Yes,' Wilson confirmed, remembering the rolling plains,
the cold winters and long hot summers, his parents working ir
fields of corn between sunrise and sunset while he, whc
could never stand the place, searched the distant horizon.

He looked back with no emotion, simply recalling it from
his mind, and retained no more feeling for that landscape tha
he did for his parents. He remembered them treating hirn
kindly, but that didn't mean much to him.

The past was a dead place.

Himmler nodded judiciously, glanced down at Wilson's
papers, picked some up and let them fall to the desk agair
then spread the fingers of his delicate, almost feminine hand
over them. 'Naturally we've checked the details you gave u
about your background and found them to be exactly as yol
stated. You're a remarkable man, Mr Wilson, perhaps evel
extraordinary - which would only make you all the more
dangerous, should you not be what you say you are.'

'I'm a scientist, Reichsfuhrer. | want to get on with my work. |
can't do what | want to do in America, so | came here, to
Germany, where | know that my particular kind of talent is
much in demand. It's as simple as that'

‘Nothing is as simple as that, Mr Wilson, as you and | both
know. You're an American citizen, and no matter your
grievances, you must still love the country you came from.'

'l do not, Reichsfuhrer. To me, it's just another country and
one that can't help me.'

Himmler actually looked shocked, as if blasphemy had beer
spoken. 'Patriotism!" he exclaimed. "You have no sense of that?'

'No.'

' find that hard to believe.'

‘Believe it.'

'If you were a German citizen, I'd have you shot for that
attitude.’

'I'm not German, Reichsfuhrer.'

Himmler picked up a pencil, drummed it on the desk,
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tapped it lightly against his teeth, then put it down again. He
signed, almost sadly. 'Even though our country is not at wa
with yours, what you've done, in coming here to work for us,
is virtually treason. Are you a traitor? Is that what you want to
be?'

Wilson had to admire him for saying that The chicken farmer
was no fool. He looked like a schoolteacher, perhaps even a mor
but mixed in with his lunatic ideas was a steely intelligence. Not ¢
vast intelligence, but a sharp one, which meant that he had to t
handled carefully and never taken for granted.

‘A traitor?' Wilson said. 'l don't think in such terms. | was
exploited by my government, then betrayed and cast aside, ar
now | wish to lend my talents to those who will use them.’

'Lend your talents?'

The question actually amused Wilson. 'How wise you are,
Reichsfuhrer, to understand that a man of my ambition woulc
not willingly do anything for free. Naturally, | came here for
the most selfish reasons - because | live for my work and only
someone like you would have the vision and courage to financ
it. Il work for you as long as you finance my research - which is
why 1 wrote to you.'

'‘And you do not care to what ends your research is finally
put?’

'A true scientist can't be concerned with such matters. My
only concern is the pursuit of ultimate knowledge - and | know
you agree with that. I'm just as much a soldier as you are
but what | fight for is science.’

'Are you as ruthless as a soldier, Herr Wilson?'

'Yes, Reichsfuhrer, | am.'

Himmler smiled, obviously pleased with this response,
though his smile held no warmth.

‘Why me?' he asked softly. 'Of all the people in the Third
Reich, why did you write to me, rather than to some influential
scientist or politician? You must have known you were taking a
great chance - exposing yourself as an alien who used fals
identification papers in order to obtain a position in one of our
most important research establishments - and that | could
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have decided to have you shot as a spy. So why me, Herr
Wilson?'

'‘Because you're a man of vision," Wilson said, combining &
lie with a certain amount of truth. He felt that Himmler was,
indeed, a man of great dreams, if not vision, who would suppor
any kind of research, no matter how esoteric or even mad. Fc
that, if for very little else, he would certainly be useful.
'‘Because you believe in the limitless possibilities of the future,
will back your beliefs with actions, and will not let petty human
emotions stand in your way. You and |, Herr Himmler, if | may
say so, are similar that way.'

‘What you say may be true," Himmler replied, unmoved by
flattery, 'but it still doesn't explain why | should give you, a
foreigner, my support, particularly since you wish to take part
in our most vital, and therefore confidential, research.’

You should give me your support, Reichsfuhrer, because
my papers have shown you what | can do - and what | can do |
much more than anyone you have could do.'

'Some of my scientists would take offense at that remark.'

That wouldn't change its accuracy. My work is proof of my
genius. More important, I'm engaged in a project similar to
one you've already started: the creation of a revolutionary forn
of transport and extraordinary weapon.'

'You mean Projekt Saucer.'

'Yes, Reichsfuhrer.'

‘And how did you know about that, Herr Wilson, since the
project is under SS supervision?'

There are always whispers, Reichsfuhrer, particularly
among scientists, and naturally | picked them up in
Friedrichshafen. | was also puzzled to see certain, odd machir
parts in the Zeppelin Works - but when combined with some
of the experiments taking place in the wind tunnel, | realized
they could only relate to the development of an aircraft shape
like a saucer - the kind of machine being researched witt
Projekt Saucer at Kummersdorf West.'

'What kind of experiments were you doing in the Zeppelin
wind tunnel?'

47



W. A. Harbinson

‘Tests relating to Prandtl's boundary layer.'

‘The importance of which is?'

'If we can't solve the problem of the boundary layer, the
speed and maneuverability of our aircraft will always be
limited.'

'Please explain.'

The perfect flying machine will be one that requires no
runway, since it will take off vertically, will be able to hover in
midair, and will not be limited in flight by Prandtl's boundary
layer.'

'l am not an engineer," Himmler reminded him impatiently.

'‘According to Prandtl's theory of the boundary layer, the
air sweeping in on an object in flight increases its resistance il
direct proportion to the increasing speed of the flying object.
Because of this, the speed of any flying object is finite.
However, if some method can be found of removing the
boundary layer, virtually limitless speed and maneuverability
will be achieved.'

'And a disc shape is the best shape for this?'

'Potentially, yes. The buildup of the boundary layer is
dramatically increased by the many surface protuberances of
normal aircraft - wings, tails, rudders, rotors, and so forth. If
we could get rid of those - by somehow wrapping them
together as part and parcel of the one, circular, smooth
surfaced flying wing - we would at least be on the road to the
perfect flying machine.'

'‘And you think that we can accomplish this here in
Germany?"'

'l think you're the country with most interest in such
developments and certainly the most advanced so far
Regarding vertical-rising aircraft, the Focke-Wulf Company
has already announced that it has almost completed its FV
61 helicopter, which will be the first fully operational
helicopter in existence. Regarding experimental tailless
aircraft, or flying wings, devoid of vertical stabilizing or
control surfaces, the Horten brothers of Bonn have alread
produced some successful prototypes. As for other

48



INCEPTION

problems standing in the way of limitless speed and
maneuverability, it was a German, Professor Ludwig
Prandtl, who, at Gottingen in 1904, defined the nature of the
boundary layer. Since then, many other German scientist
have been experimenting with revolutionary new types of
aircraft in the hope of finding a way of defeating that layer.
A disc or saucer-shaped aircraft, without any surface
protuberances, is the logical outcome of that research.’

Himmler's smile was as chilling as the gaze behind his smal
pince-nez. There are those who would say that such an aircre
cannot be built'

"The foolish always speak loudest.'

'‘And you think that you can help with such a project?’

'I can complete it, Reichsfuhrer. | have been working toward
this goal all my life and have now almost reached it.’

Himmler glanced at Wilson's technical drawings, which had
been done in black ink, then raised his eyes again as he spre
his slim hands in a questioning manner.

'‘But are you close to reaching it?' he asked. 'My scientist:
often say the same thing - but so far they have failed.’

‘Just look at my drawings, Reichsfiihrer.'

' am not a scientist, Herr Wilson. Your drawings look
impressive, but to me they are meaningless - though initia
reports have certainly confirmed that your written work is
extraordinary. These drawings will have to be studied furthet
by people more knowledgeable than 1. In the meantime, | have t
consider what it is you want from me.’

'I've told you that, Reichsfiihrer. | wrote to you not only for
the reasons we've just discussed, but also because | know tt
the SS is gradually taking over the security and managemer
of the Third Reich's major scientific and research establish:
ments, that soon it will be the most powerful organization in
Germany, and that you, its Reichsfiihrer, are the only man ir
power with the vision to see what can be done in this particula
field. Already you've implemented a disc-shaped aircraft
project; only | can take that project to its completion - but |
need your support.'
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There was silence for a moment and Wilson waited
patiently, neither excited nor frightened. He was fully in
control as Himmler stared steadily at him. He did not flinch
from the mild monster, but neither did he try to challenge him.
Instead he let his gaze go slightly out of focus, as if gazing
inward.

Which he did in a sense, thinking back upon America,
remembering Goddard and how the Americans had mocke
him while these clever Germans revered him. Well, Goddarc
was back in Roswell, struggling along on a mere pittance, while
he, Wilson, if Himmler went as he thought he would, would
soon have all the money and equipment he could possibl
want.

Pleased, he focused again upon Himmler, whose mild gaz
concealed madness.

'You do realize, Herr Wilson, that once | gave that support,
you would be committed to working for the Third Reich for
the rest of your days?'

'Yes, Reichsfuhrer.'

'‘And that if you betrayed us, or even tried to leave the
country, | would personally have you executed?'

Tes, Reichsfuhrer, | realize that, also.'

Tou are therefore willing to commit yourself totally to the
Third Reich and all it stands for?'

Tes, Reichsfuhrer," Wilson said. He lied easily, as he wa:
beyond morality, thinking only of his own plans for the future
and ignoring all else. 'I'm willing to do that.'

Himmler stared steadily at him, his gaze searching, ther
he nodded, as if coming to a decision, though not without
doubts.

'You must really despise your government,' he said, 'for
what they did to you.'

'No, | don't,’ Wilson said. 'Such emotions are redundant I'm
here not because | want revenge, but because my governme
won't support me and | think you will. It's as simple as that'

'You are more than committed to your work," Himmler
observed. 'You are clearly fanatical.'
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' live only for my work - as you do - and that makes us
superior men.’

' think you really believe that, Herr Wilson.'

'| do, Reichsfuhrer. | do.'

Himmler smiled at the subtle flattery but was otherwise
unmoved by it. He then glanced down at Wilson's drawings,
scratched his nose while studying them, shook his head fror
side to side in wonder, and looked up again.

' am going to have you placed in the custody of the
Gestapo,” he said, 'in their headquarters in the Prin:
Albrechtstrasse. You needn't worry. | do this merely for
convenience. | wish to have these drawings examined in mor
detail - and to have you interrogated at length, regarding you
past and present attitudes as well as your work. Naturally, yol
will be interrogated by one of my intelligence officers - but
hopefully one with an engineering background. Should the
results of our investigations prove positive, you will, as you
request, be given work at the rocket research establishment
Kummersdorf West. On the other hand, if our findings are
negative, you will be shot and buried as the German citizer
whom these false identification papers say you are. Is tha
acceptable, Herr Wilson?'

'Yes, Reichsfuhrer - and thank you.'

Himmler nodded at the armed guard in the corner of the
room, and Wilson was led out to begin his journey to Gestapc
headquarters.
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CHAPTER FIVE

Bradley met Robert H. Goddard on the porch of the latter's
large frame house on a street shaded by horse chestnut trees
Worcester, Massachusetts, in the winter of 1933. The snow ha
not yet come, but the air was gray and cold, and the leaves we
blowing around Bradley's feet when Goddard shook his hanc
and ushered him inside.

It was a pleasant, old-fashioned house, with its original
furniture covered in relatively new slipcovers, its windows
draped with chintz, and a wood fire burning in the large, oper
fireplace. Bradley knew that Goddard had lived here all his
life, and it certainly suited him, being an unpretentious,
comfortable place.

'Please take a seat,” Goddard said, his voice as formal ¢
his appearance when he indicated the sofa by the fire. 'I'n
sorry | can't offer you much - my wife's not home at the
moment - but | can at least make a cup of coffee."'

That'd be fine,' Bradley said. 'I'll have it black, with no
sugar.'

Goddard nodded solemnly and disappeared into the kitcher
he returned a couple of minutes later, carrying two cups of coffee
Bradley noticed his stooped walk, which, like his bald head, hac
been caused by tuberculosis in his youth. Goddard hande
Bradley the black coffee, sipped at his own, then took the
armchair facing the settee. His eyes were brown over a sma
mustache, his gaze slightly suspicious, and Bradley remembere
that he wasn't keen on representatives of a government that h
ignored his remarkable talents for too long.
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'So," Goddard said, 'you insisted on seeing me, even after
put you off on the phone when you called me at Clark. Have
you come to make me an offer?’

Bradley grinned. 'No,"' he said. 'I'm in neither science nor
finance. | have heard that you've had trouble getting financec
but that's not what I'm here for.'

'If you're not part of the government's scientific com-
munity, why come to see me? The US government has neve
shown much interest in my work, so I'm naturally surprised
that one of their representatives should turn up on my
doorstep - more so since he hasn't come to offer me help.’

The National Advisory Committee for Aeronautics was
recently formed to advise the government on every aspect ¢
aeronautical development, political and scientific, both here
and abroad. For that reason it was composed of those mo
respected in the aeronautical community. You were invited tc
join - and you rejected the offer.'

'With all due respect to Orville Wright and my good friend
Charles Lindbergh, | don't consider such an offer to be of help. Ir
making me such an offer, you were seeking my help - anc
what | need is government backing for my expensive researct
That has never been offered.’

'I'm sorry.'

'I'm sure you are.'

Realizing that this was not going to be easy, Bradley decide
to skip the formalities. 'In fact, perhaps to make matters worse
I'm asking for help again.'

'‘Obviously not scientific help.'

'‘No. I'm an intelligence officer for the US Army Air Force
and | need information.’

'Information about my work?' Goddard asked suspiciously.

‘No,' Bradley replied. 'l need to know about someone who
worked with you - a man named John Wilson.'

Goddard straightened up, looking surprised, then collectec
himself by sipping some more coffee. When he lowered the
cup and saucer to his lap, his eyes were masked.
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‘Ah, yes,' he said, Wilson. An odd bird. So why do you want to
know about him?'

'‘Because | have to find him,' Bradley told him, '‘and he hasn'
left many tracks. Do you mind if | smoke?'

Goddard shook his head to say he didn't mind and Bradley
who smoked only when he didn't know what to do with his
hands, lit a cigarette.

'‘Why do you have to find him? Has he committed an
offense?’

'‘No,' Bradley said, exhaling a stream of smoke. 'And that's al
| can say for now. But please accept that this man must b
found - and you're our first lead.'

Goddard shrugged. 'l can't help you much, Mr Bradley. |
doubt that | know any more about him than you do - | only
worked with him.'

'‘With him? | thought he worked for you.'

‘You mean as my assistant?'

'Yes.'

Goddard smiled for the first time - a slight, laconic smile.
Well, he certainly was that - or was supposed to be that - but
mhan like Wilson doesn't work/or anybody. He was too bright for
that.'

'How bright?'

‘Brilliant. He was clearly a genius.'

As Goddard wasn't known for his generosity to fellow
scientists, Bradley was surprised by this description.
h'You're supposed to be a genius,' he said. 'Are you sayin
that—'

The word genius is used far too casually for my liking,'
Goddard interjected, 'and so isn't one I'd normally use lightly.
Yet I'd apply it without doubt to Wilson. The man was a genius.'

'How much did you learn about him?'

‘Not much, Mr Bradley. He was guarded about his past,
almost paranoid about remaining anonymous, and seemed !
have few interests, other than space flight. Like me, he thought
possible to fly to the moon - and that's why he came to me.'

‘When was that?'

55



W. A. Harbinson

'In 1930.'

Bradley saw a glass ashtray on a low table near the
bookcase, so leaned sideways, picked it up, balanced it on or
leg, and nicked some ash into it 'And how did he come to work
with you? Did he initially write to you?'

'‘No. He simply turned up out of the blue, told me he was ar
aeronautical engineer who had designed airships—'

‘Airships?'

'‘Correct.’

'Did he say he did that work in Europe or America?'

'He certainly didn't mention Europe. In fact, | got the
impression that he had never been there in his life.'

'Yet that's where most of the airships have been constructe
and flown.'

"That's where the first airships were constructed and flown,
Goddard corrected him. The first was built by Henri Giffard of
France in 1852; powered by a 350-pound engine, it was
successfully flown over the Paris Hippodrome at a speed o
she miles an hour. An internal combustion engine fueled by
hydrogen from the airship's bag was then used by the Germa
Paul Haenlein, for his even more successful flight in 1872.
Albert and Gaston Tissandier of France successfully powere
an airship with an electric motor in 1883, and the first rigid
airship, with an aluminum-sheeting hull, was built in Germany in
1897. And | don't have to tell you that the Germans used :
number of large Zeppelin airships to bomb Paris and Londor
throughout the Great War.'

'All European airships,' Bradley reminded him.

'Yes, of course - they were the best known. But a few
airships were constructed here in the 1920s, and more at
being constructed right this minute - so there appears to b
nothing remarkable in Wilson's assertion that he worked or
airship designs.'

'Which must have been just before he came to work for you.'

'Probably,' Goddard said.

'What else did he tell you?' Bradley asked.

'He was obsessed with the possibilities of space flight - and
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therefore with my rocket research. He said he had beel
inspired by the fact that | had managed to launch liquid-fueled
instrument-carrying rockets, and informed me that he wantec
to work with me and learn from me.'

'I'm surprised you let him.'

Goddard didn't smile at all. '‘As he was older than I,' he said, '
was certainly initially uncomfortable with his suggestion,
suspecting him to be someone simply desperate for work
However, he showed me his papers, which proved beyont
doubt that he had attended MIT between 1888 and 1893
before my time there - then Sibley College at Cornell
University, in Ithaca, New York, where by 1895 he'd obtained
his Bachelor of Science in aeronautics. He also proved, botl
verbally and with various papers he'd written and let me reac
that he had an extraordinary - and | don't use the word lightly -
an extraordinary grasp of aeronautics and physics. Naturally, M
Bradley, after that, | couldn't turn him away.'

'He started working for you immediately?'

'Yes.'

This was at your Guggenheim-financed experimental
station in Roswell, New Mexico?'

'Yes.'

'For how long?'

'‘Approximately six months.’

‘That doesn't seem too long.'

'No, but it was all he needed. During that period he helpec
me enormously - but he also learned everything I'd discovered <
far about steering systems, gyroscopic controls, and variou
kinds of self-cooling combustion chambers. Those were the
things he wanted to know about - and when he'd found wha
he needed, he left, with not even a good-bye note."'

'‘Not exactly showing gratitude,' Bradley said.

Goddard smiled for the second time. 'Wilson wasn't a mar
for gratitude - and | learned as much from him as he did fron
me, so | can't really complain.'

Whether or not Goddard felt the need to complain, Bradley
certainly thought that Wilson's abrupt departure could only
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be the act of an extraordinarily cold, thoughtless, self-centere
man. When he also thought of how casually Wilson had
dismissed and left his former mistress, the intriguing Gladys
Kinder, he was even more convinced that the man he wa
trying to picture clearly was not the warmest, most sensitive
soul on earth. Certainly he was a man who used people ar
casually cast them off- a man who didn't need love or friends.

A man completely alone.

'So what did you think about him as a person?' Bradley
asked Goddard, desperately hoping to fit a human face to hi
shadowy quarry.

'l don't know what you mean," Goddard said with scientific
detachment.

Bradley blew a smoke ring and watched it grow larger and
thinner before disappearing. Then, realizing what he was
doing, he felt a little embarrassed. 'Did you become friends ir
any sense?' he asked.

Goddard shrugged, at least displaying his confusion, whict
made him more likable. 'l got on well with him," he said, 'but in
an academic way. We both lived for our work, we'd both had
bad times with the government, and we agreed that the min
should rule the heart - not vice versa, as is commonly
believed. Oddly enough, then, though there was little warmtt
between us, we had much in common.'

Bradley hardly heard the last remark, for his lawyer's
instincts, always turned to the unusual, had honed in or
something else.

'Did you say he'd had trouble with our government?' he
asked, leaning forward, forgetting the ashtray, but managing t
grab it before it fell off his leg.

'Yes,' Goddard said. '‘Just like me.'

'You mean the trouble was related to his work?' Bradley
asked as he rearranged the position of the ashtray.

'Yes," Goddard confirmed. 'He didn't tell me much about
himself, but he did say that he'd come from lowa, worked or
some airship projects, and come to me when those project
were first taken over by, then dropped by, the US government
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Is that why you're interested, Mr Bradley? Were you involved
in his problems?’

Feeling distinctly uneasy, Bradley was nevertheless able t
answer honestly. 'No. | know nothing about them. It's
interesting, though, that he should have said that What do you
think?'

'l don't think | have to tell you, Mr Bradley, that for years
I've felt neglected by the US government - and if Wilson was
working on airships, or similar projects, and was then either
dropped or blocked by the government, he would feel as bitte
as | do - which is very bitter indeed.’

Bradley almost felt Goddard's bitterness. He was deeply
embarrassed by it, but disguised it by drinking more coffee
and then clearing his throat.

'Did he say or do anything to substantiate such bitterness?'

'Yes,' Goddard said without hesitation. 'Just before our
rocket test flight of December 31, 1930, which Wilson should
have attended, he told me that our government didn?
appreciate its brightest minds, that it would eventually make
things difficult for me, and that | should consider leaving the
country for good and taking my talents where they'd be more
appreciated.'

'‘And where did he suggest, Mr Goddard?'

'‘Germany," Goddard said innocently. 'He reminded me tha
the German rocket scientists revered my work and tha
because of that I'd certainly get the financing there that |
couldn't get here. Two days later, while we were testing out
latest rocket, he packed up and disappeared.’

'Was your rocket test a success?' Bradley asked, thinking |
wise to lighten the conversation.

‘It was pleasing," Goddard replied. The gyroscopic controls
didn't work properly and the descent parachute didn't open
but the rocket reached a speed of 350 miles per hour and
height of nearly two miles.'

That's impressive.'

'Yes, it's impressive - but not to your superiors.'

Feeling that he'd just been slapped on the face, and also
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oddly haunted by the ghostly man he was pursuing, Bradle
finished his coffee, stubbed his cigarette out, placed the
ashtray on the table, and prepared to leave.

'Is there anything else you can give me that might help me*
he asked.

'‘No," Goddard replied, standing up to show him to the door.
What I've told you is all | can tell you. Apart from that, he's a
mystery.'

Bradley sighed. Thanks anyway,' he said. 'lI'd like to
apologize for how the government's treated you, but—'

'It's not your place to do so.'

"Yeah,' Bradley said, grateful for the unexpected sensitivity.
'Right It's not my place. Thanks again, anyway, Dr Goddard -
and the best of luck for the future.’

Goddard just smiled and nodded, led him to the door,
remained on the porch till he drove away, then disappeare
back into his attractive, old-fashioned house.

Bradley drove straight to MIT, flirted with the middle-age
lady who worked in the records department, and soon learne
that John Wilson had indeed attended the university before
going on to Cornell in Ithaca. He was also able to ascertait
from Wilson's old registration card that at the time of his
enrolliment, he had been living in Massachusetts with only his
father, that before that he had lived with both his parents ir
Montezuma, lowa, and that he had been born there on July ¢
1870.

Growing ever more intrigued by the fragmented trail of his
brilliant, mysterious quarry, Bradley took the next train out
of Massachusetts.

‘Airships,’ he muttered to himself as he sat in his reserve
seat in a first-class car and lit a cigar. 'What next? | wonder.'

The train moved into darkness.
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CHAPTER SIX

Ernst awakened at dawn, after a night of bad dreams, thinking h
was in a cell in Stadelheim Prison, his heart pounding with fear
Then he saw his own bedroom, felt Ingrid beside him, and s
heaved a sigh of relief and reached out to touch her.

She was naked beneath the sheets, her skin smooth al
\r/]varm, and aroused, he rolled in against her, hoping to wake

er.

She did not awaken immediately, which disappointed him
again, and still caught in the web of his frightening dreams, he
gazed through the windows. The curtains had not beer
drawn and he saw the dawn's dark-gray light, gradually
illuminating the houses opposite, in the modest-priced Berlin
suburb of Helensee. They had moved here a year ago, tw
weeks after they were married and had honeymooned in Paris
which, compared to Berlin, had been like heaven on earth. |
seemed longer than a year ago (so much had happened in t
turbulent period) and Ernst, now the father of a daughter, Ula
wondered where all the joy had gone.

Germany had changed dramatically in the fifteen months
and he had changed with it

Not wishing to think about it, feeling the need for escape,
he pressed himself against Ingrid's spine and ran his hanc
over her. He heard her breathing change, felt her stiffen an
then relax, so he whispered her name into her ear and st
sighed and turned into him. She gazed at him with sleepy
catlike green eyes, then kissed him sensually.

It was the dawn's sole reward, and he made love with
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feeling, aware that it was not like it had been, but grateful tc
have her. Ingrid's body was still sublime, a soft retreat from
harsh reality, and he slid along her belly, sucked and licked he
breasts and neck, and moved inside her with the desperate ne
to obliterate what had recently been haunting him - the
knowledge that he was losing her love as his pride was
destroyed.

When he had finished and was hoping to rest on top of hel
she slid out from under him.

"'l get breakfast,' she said.

'Please, Ingrid, stay in bed a little longer."'

'No,' she said. 'You'll be late.'

Reminded by that remark of what the day might yet bring,
Ernst felt a cold chill of dread slipping through him. He had
forgotten that he had been ordered to report back to barracl
unusually early in preparation for possible action against the
SA, or Brownshirts, who were reported to be planning an
armed rebellion under the leadership of Captain Ernst Roehm.

Another police duty, Ernst thought bitterly as Ingrid, in a
dressing gown, padded from the room and he slid his legs ot
of the bed and went into the bathroom.

As he attended to his ablutions, he pondered the fact the
even he was becoming confused by the sheer number ¢
conflicting groups within the Third Reich's increasingly
nightmarish police structure. Top of the list were the Gestapo, 0
Secret State Police. Originally under the command of the
debauched Hermann Goring, recently it had been taken unde
the wing of Himmler, who was also head of the SS. The S¢
had been formed as Hitler's personal Guard Detachment bl
was fast becoming the most feared police force of all. Nex
came the SD, which acted as the long-range Intelligence an
Security Service of the SS, under the control of the dreade!
Reinhard Heydrich. Last of the major groups was the SA,
originally formed as part of the SD and consisting of Ernst
Roehm's brown-shirted Storm Troops, who represented th
military arm of the Nazi Party and were used mainly to
intimidate, beat up, or murder those openly opposed to it. Now
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that degenerate madman, Roehm, was rumored to be planning

a putsch, or armed revolt, against the Reichswehr... Anc
today's police duty, Ernst suspected, had something to do wit
that situation.

He resented being involved in such duties - more so
because Ingrid had frequently expressed her contempt for th
SS, which she viewed as fascistic and brutal. He also resente
them because what he had been promised, eighteen mont
ago, would be aeronautical intelligence gathering for the SS
technical branch had in fact turned out to be secret servic
intelligence gathering against, and the arresting of, all those
who opposed Hitler's National Socialist Party.

Ernst had escorted more unfortunate souls into Stadelheir
prison and Gestapo headquarters than he cared to remembe
and there were stories about both of those places that
preferred to forget.

Suddenly filled with the dry-throated nervousness that
always gripped him when he thought of his SS duties, he had
quick bath, dressed even more urgently in his gleaming black S
uniform, looked fondly in on his nine-month-old daughter,
where she was sleeping in her cot in her own brightly paintec
room, then went into the kitchen to have coffee with Ingrid.

She was sitting at the table, a steaming mug in her hand:
her short-cropped blond hair attractively disheveled arounc
her delicate features. Having Ula had not made her lose he
figure, which remained slim and sensual; and Ernst, as he toc
the chair facing her, was grateful for that.

'I'd forgotten | had to be there so early,' he said, sipping
his coffee. 'l also forgot to tell you that | may not be coming
home tonight. It could be a long duty.'

What is it this time?' Ingrid asked him, her green gaze
steady over her steaming mug.

'I don't know," he lied, because he had been ordered to d
so and did not dare do otherwise. They only said that it wa:
some kind of police action that could take a long time.'

In fact, he had been told in confidence the previous day by
Gruppenfuhrer Josef Dietrich, commander of Hitler's

63



W. A. Harbinson

elite SS bodyguard, the Leibstandarte - SS Adolf Hitler, that
for months the SA, under the command of the notorious
homosexual, Captain Roehm, had been in growing,
increasingly open revolt against Hitler in particular and
Himmler's SS in general, and now that conflict was coming to
a head. According to Dietrich, Goring, SS chief Heinrich
Himmler, and the dreaded SD chief Reinhard Heydrich hac
formed a secret alliance to get rid of Roehm and were going t
act soon.

Ernst dreaded the form such an action might take, but tried t
look unconcerned.

'‘Another police action,’ Ingrid said, putting his previous
thoughts into words and imbuing them with soft sarcasm.
'‘Before we married | said you'd become a policeman - and
that's what you are.'

'I'm not a policeman,' he insisted too loudly, aware that he
had had to do this too often. 'I'm not a member of the Gestapo. <
stop suggesting | am.’

'You do the Gestapo's work," Ingrid replied, not perturbed
by his outrage, 'and that's just as bad.'

'l obey orders,' he said, 'and that's all | do. It's not the kind o
work | wanted, it's certainly not what | expected, and
although | don't always like what I'm told to do, | must obey
orders.’'

"You could try refusing.'

‘That's nonsense, and you know it. I'm an SS officer, a
German officer, and you know what that means.'

'It means you work as a policeman.’

‘It means that if | don't do what I'm told, Il be imprisoned
myself - or possibly shot Is that what you want?'

Ingrid placed her cup on the table and gazed down at he
coffee, perhaps trying to hide the blush he could see on he
cheeks.

'I'm sorry," she said. 'l know you're not really a policeman. |
also know you don't like what you're doing and my attacks
make it worse. | hate saying these things, but | can't hely
myself. | hate the SS - and | can't bear the thought that you,
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who should have been an engineer, are doing their dirty work. |
just makes me sick.'

'It sometimes makes me sick as well," he said, 'but what els
can | do? | am an officer in Heinrich Himmler's SS - and it's
too late to get out'

Ingrid raised her head again. 'Are you sorry you joined?’

He shrugged. 'I'm not sure. Sometimes | feel betrayed -
they said | would be in technical intelligence - but at other
times, and | certainly can't deny it, | want to surrender my own
feelings to the general good.'

'‘And you think that what's happening at present is for the
general good?'

Ernst heard his own sigh like a soft wail of defeat. We can
only hope,' he said. 'At the moment, things certainly look ugly,
even shameful, but one hopes that the end will justify the
means - and that's all one can hope for.'

Ingrid had just been about to take his hand, but she stoppe
glanced at him, sat back, and glanced vaguely around her as
looking for exits.

'‘Everything's changed so quickly," she said, shaking he
head in bewilderment. 'Nothing's been the same since the
night outside the Chancellery. It's only been fifteen months,
yet now we live in a city filled with brown-shirted brutes, secret
police, intimidation and fear. It's been like a bad dream.’

Ernst knew what she meant and rarely stopped thinking
about it. He, too, remembered that wonderful moment in
Wilhelmstrasse, when Hitler had appeared at the window of
the Chancellery to smile down on his cheering men. It hac
been a great moment, a transcendental experience, one tt
had seemed to offer the promise of a magical future. A meri
fifteen months ago...

And since then?

Ernst could not forget that he had been one of the
truckloads of SS men, hastily sworn in as auxiliaries to the SA
who had, in March 1933, just a few days before he'd marriec
Ingrid, swarmed through the city to round up known Reds anc
Social Democrats and take them into 'protective custody' - a
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term that, even then, was rumored to mean imprisonment
torture, or execution.

Nor could he forget that he had been one of the many prou
SS guards who sang the 'Horst Wessel' song in the Kroll Oper
House, temporary site of the new Reichstag, the tumultuou
night that Hitler, wearing his brown SA uniform and standing
on a stage decorated with a huge swastika flag, made th
speech that expunged democracy from the Germar
parliament.

Nor could he forget that while the midnight calls and arrests
increased, along with the whispers about torture and murder i
SA and SS prison cells, he had been one of the many loy:e
‘policemen’ who had seized union offices throughout the
nation, arrested labor leaders, confiscated union files and bar
accounts, shut down their newspapers, and in one awful da
obliterated organized labor in the whole country.

Now the Fuhrer, Adolf Hitler, was ruling a totalitarian state
known as the Third Reich - and he, Ernst Stoll, once a mert
technical student, had aided his ruthless climb to power.

Naturally, Ingrid was right He had a lot to be ashamed of.
But though he sometimes acknowledged this to himself, the
shame and despair in which he writhed made him loathe he
for saying it.

' have to go now," he said.

Feeling like someone being sucked into quicksand, anc
filled with the feeling that today would be a nightmare, he
walked around the table, kissed Ingrid's cheek, and starte
out of the house.

'Don't do anything you'll be ashamed of," Ingrid joked,
trying to lighten the depression he was clearly showing.

"Il try not to," he replied with a smile and a wave, before
stepping outside and closing the door behind him.

Waiting on the pavement in the morning's brightening light
for the jeep that would transport him to Stadelheim Prison, he
could not shake off his recollections of the past fifteen months
and realized why he was losing Ingrid's love as his pride wa:
destroyed. He had become a policeman, the emissary of
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butchers, and as his resistance was eroded and his pride suk
destroyed, Ingrid's respect for him, the basis of her love, wa
also being eroded.

The Third Reich was driving a wedge between them, just a
Ingrid had said it would.

The jeep that Ernst had been waiting for turned the corne
at the bottom of the street, drove toward him, and pulled to the
curb. As his fellow officers, Willi Brandt and Franck Ritter, both
lieutenants, were taking up the rear seats, Ernst sat up frol
with the driver - not without noticing that the normally
ebullient Brandt was looking gloomy while Franck was clearly
excited.

'So," Ernst said, as the jeep moved out into the almos
deserted road and headed for the Prinz Albrechtstrasse
‘another early-morning call for the elite. It is so nice to be
wanted.'

'It depends what they want us for,' the gloomy Brandt said
'since that may not be nice.'

'l always like the early-morning calls,’ Franck said, sounding
excited. 'It usually means action.’

'l like action in the movies,' Brandt replied. 'l don't like to
be part of it. Not when it involves arresting people and
throwing them into that prison.’

They deserve what they get," Franck said. 'If they didn't,
we wouldn't arrest them. They are the dregs of society -
drunks, illiterates, gypsies, communist traitors, and Jews - an
what we do is for the good of the country, which is why | enjoy
it.'

"You'd enjoy torturing or shooting them even more,' Brandt
saiﬁl in a remarkably careless outburst, 'but that doesn't make
right.’

Those are the words of a traitor!" Franck snapped. 'l coulc
report you for that!'

'If it gets me off this duty,’ Brandt responded, 'please be my
guest.'

Unnerved by the conversation, Ernst told them both to shu
up, then glanced at the awakening city through which they
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were moving. It was a warm Saturday morning and already the
news vendors were out, selling the propaganda to be found i
the lllustrierte Beobachter and Frankfurter Zeitung while the
Brownshirts took up their positions on the sidewalks,
preparing for another day of insults, beard-tugging, and othe
carefully planned humiliations.

An average weekend in Berlin, 1934.

Ernst felt even worse when the jeep pulled up at the mair
entrance to the grim Gestapo headquarters in the Prin
Albrechtstrasse. He was startled by the number of SS jeer
and troop trucks lined up along the pavement, and even mor
startled when, inside the dreary, gloomy building, he found
that it was packed with heavily armed SS troops.

This is no ordinary working day,’ Brandt whispered,
looking even more upset. "What the hell's going on, Ernst?'

'‘Something big!" Ritter exclaimed, his eyes gleaming with
excitement. 'l knew it! | knew?

Even as he spoke, the door behind them opened again ai
more SS troops hurried in.

'They've arrested Roehm!' someone whispered.

‘Hitler himself did it!" someone added.

'It's us or the SA," another voice said. 'And today will decide
it.'

Hardly able to believe what he was hearing, Ernst led his
two comrades up the stairs and along some packed corridor
until he came to the office of his superior, Gruppenfuhrer Jose
Dietrich. As Ernst stopped in the doorway, Dietrich barked
orders to a group of SS officers. When the officers left, all
looking anxious, Dietrich waved Ernst inside.

'Heil Hitler!" he snapped, then added more reasonably:
'Prepare yourselves, gentlemen. Operation Calibra has begu
You are in for a busy day.'

'I'm sorry, sir," Ernst replied, 'but I'm not familiar with that
code name.’

'No, Lieutenant, of course not. Only the most senior officers
were informed. It had come to our attention that Roehm wa:
planning a putsch and the ultimate destruction of the authority
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of the army and SS. However, early this morning, our
courageous Fuhrer, in the company of Goebbels, flew to Ba
Wiessee and personally arrested that disgusting pervert and tl
nest of homosexual traitors he calls his stormtroopers, at th
Pension Hanselbauer, near the Tegernsee. According to
reports, most of the pig's men were still in bed when the raic
took place - many of them caught in flagrante delicto with fellow
SA troops or local youths. One's stomach churns just to thinl
of it." Here the gruppenfuhrer shook his head in disgust.
'However,' he continued, 'they were all rounded up and ar
this very moment being transported back to Berlin to be
incarcerated, with Roehm himself, in the Brown House, prior
to being quickly tried and judged. Today, gentlemen, we will
wield our long knives - so prepare to shed blood.' Ernst's soL
plunged into despair - but he found no escape.

At ten o'clock that warm Saturday morning, he was informed
that the cells of Stadelheim Prison were already packed witl
SA leaders. Those still in the Brown House, including Roehm,
had demanded to see the Fiihrer, but were refused anc
instead, transported to Stadelheim in an armored car. Thel
Roehm was put in a solitary cell, not far from the one he hac
occupied after the Beer Hall putsch.

Shortly after learning of Roehm's incarceration, Ernst was
called to the office of Gruppenfuhrer Dietrich, who told him
that the purge was beginning.

'l personally,’ Dietrich informed him proudly, 'have been
put in charge of the executions of the SA men being held ir
Stadelheim Prison. Meanwhile, you are to go with Lieutenant
Ritter to the home of General von Schleicher and once there
put him to death. You understand?’

‘Yes, sir," Ernst replied, burning hot and cold with shock
and disbelief. He was being ordered to kill the former
chancellor of Germany. 'l just think—'

'Don't think, lieutenant, just obey. And when you've done
that, drive straight to Stadelheim to receive further orders.
Now good luck and - Heil Hitler!'
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Unable to believe his ears, but forced to accept that this wa
real, Ernst soon found himself seated beside the hated Frant
Ritter in one of the many police cars that were careening
through the streets of Berlin in the great roundup of enemies c
the regime. As if in a dream that was becoming a nightmare, h
saw one unit, the men all wearing steel helmets and armed wit
rifles and submachine guns, surrounding von Papen's office
There was the sound of gunshots, sudden and frightening ¢
they passed. Ernst felt sick to his stomach, too hot, completel
unreal; and closed and opened his eyes when they passed
similar unit as it surrounded Roehm's opulent residence ol
the Tiergartenstrasse.

Sirens wailed in the distance.

Too soon for Ernst's liking, he and Lieutenant Ritter were
being ushered by an unsuspecting cook into the study of
comfortable house in a suburb of Berlin. While Ernst licked
his dry lips and fought to stop himself from shaking, Ritter
asked the distinguished-looking gentleman sitting at the desk i
he was indeed General von Schleicher.

'Yes, of course,' the former chancellor replied, looking up
in surprise, even as Ritter pulled his pistol from his holster,
cocked the safety catch, and opened fire.

The noise was appalling in that confined space.

Fumbling in a state of nerves, having not killed before, Ernst
fired in a daze even as Schleicher was falling - and, worse, just ¢
Frau von Schleicher appeared out of nowhere, rushed towat
her stricken husband, and was cut down by the bullets the
Ernst and Ritter were still firing.

Two bodies lay on the floor in dark pools of spreading blood.

While Ernst stood there, too shocked to move, Ritter
hurried over to the bloody bodies on the floor, examined then
dispassionately, then looked up and said, 'This bastard's dea
but his wife's still alive. An ambulance is coming for them, dead or
alive, so let's go. There's more work to do.'

Which was certainly true.

In the courtyard of Stadelheim Prison the slaughter was wel
under way, but Ernst, when he reported to Gruppenfuhrer
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Dietrich, was told to make his way back to the Gestapo
headquarters in the Prinz Albrechtstrasse where there was
plenty of worthy work still to do. After driving there in
traffic jammed up by the police
roadblocks and SS trucks being used to raid other SA groups, |
was ordered down to the cells. It was a hell of smoke anc
ricocheting gunfire, of aggressive bawling and piteous
screaming, and Ernst didn't know what to do, didn't want to dc
anything, turned away to rush out again, but was pushed bac
by an officer. 'That bastard in there!" the officer bawled. That
rat in his
hole!

Pushed forward by the officer, Ernst found himself beside
the weeping Willi Brandt in a crowd of jostling SS troops, firing
his pistol, as the others fired, into Cell 16. There Gregor
Strasser, winner of the Iron Cross, first class, devoted Natione
Socialist and once the Fuhrer's friend, dodged back and forth, h
eyes astonishingly bright, trying to avoid the hail of bullets.
Finally, jerking spasmodically, he collapsed in his own blood
and was given the coup de grace.

The cells stank of cordite and piss and the rank sweat o
terror.

There were no names after that - only bodies spurting
blood. Ernst went with the others, losing control of himself,
firing his pistol in dark prison cells, in the hot, sunlit court-
yards, then driving across the city to execute others in thei
homes, then on to the Lichterfeld Barracks - here, there an
everywhere, through the day, into the night - murdering SA
troops and government ministers and policemen anc
politicians.

He fell asleep in darkness, awakened to the new day, too
part in more executions at lichterfeld Barracks and Columbia
House, an SS torture chamber, until, at approximately foul
o'clock the following morning, he was finally allowed to holster
his pistol and wash the blood from his hands.

Like his good friend Willi Brandt, he wept and then dried
his stinging eyes.
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He remembered returning home and telling Ingrid what
had happened. He remembered, also, that she did not shc
any sympathy for his exhaustion, any understanding of his
feelings of shame and horror, but only reviled him for what he
had done, said she would never forgive him, and told him neve
to touch her again, because he would simply revolt her.

That morning, as he lay on the sofa, he drew his strengtl
from contempt for her.

He became a good Nazi.
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CHAPTER SEVEN

Wearing a gray suit, plain white shirt, and tie, Bradley was
feeling more like a full-time lawyer and less like a disappointed,
part-time intelligence agent when he picked up the telephone i
his office high above Wall Street.

'Miss Kinder?' he checked tentatively. 'The Miss Kinder,
from Roswell, New Mexico?'

‘That's right," Gladys Kinder replied. "You sound surprised,
Mr Bradley.'

'‘Well, | certainly wasn't expecting to hear from you, so, you
know, | was—'

She chuckled in a familiar, sensual manner. Well, here |
am.'

'Where, exactly?'

'In the Algonquin Hotel. It's famous for its famous resident
writers, so | wanted to stay here.'

What are you doing in New York?' he asked, feeling guilty at
how glad he was to hear her voice. 'lt's a long way from
Roswell.'

'I'm on my way to Europe,' she replied, 'and I'm sailing from
this fair city, so | thought I'd give you a call. | remembered
that you'd taken a shine to me when we talked in your hotel
so | figured you'd at least buy me a drink.'

'l really don't think—' he began, taken aback by her
insolence, embarrassed by her accuracy, and horrified that h
secretary might be listening. 'l mean, |—'

She chuckled with throaty amusement 'Oh, stop worrying,
Mr Bradley. | know you're not the playboy kind. | really called
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because I've got some information that | think might intrigue
you.'

'What information?' he asked carefully.

'Wilson. You remember John Wilson?'

'Yes,' he replied, sitting up straight in his chair, even as the
mention of Wilson's name revived his feelings of bitter
disappointment. 'Of course | do. He's the reason you and | me
in the first place, so...'

'Still interested in him?"

‘Well, not exactly. | mean..." He didn't quite know how to
phrase it He didn't even want to think about it, since it made
him mad and frustrated. That project's sort of cooled down,
he tried. 'lt kinda got put on ice.'

'Ah-ha!’

‘Right,' Bradley responded, already feeling too emotional
just hearing her voice.

'So explain, Bradley. | thought you were hot for Wilson.'

'l was, Gladys, but various things got in the way. Basically, it
was decided from above that what we had on Wilson wasn'
enough to establish him as someone worth wasting goo
government money on. In short, | was taken off Wilson's case
and given some others, so | haven't done anything about hir
for some time. | asked them to give me a few more days, bu
they cut me dead on the spot.’

‘And when was that?'

‘A couple of days after I'd visited MIT to check Wilson's
background and education. Since he'd gone from there t
Cornell, | was going to go there next, but when Taylor put a
stop to the project... well, | was really disappointed and |
kinda lost interest.'

'I've been to Cornell," Gladys said. 'l went there to visit a
friend before leaving for Europe; and since Wilson had once
told me that that's where he'd been educated, | decided t
check his records while | was there. | come cheap, so buy m
lunch and I'll give it all to you.'

At once embarrassed and charmed by her unusus
boldness, Bradley practically stuttered, Well, | don't know,
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Gladys, I'm pretty busy here ... and what with the project
being put on ice and all... Well, | don't..."

"You don't want to see me before | leave for Europe?'

'Well, yeah, | do, but..."

‘Then don't make excuses. And believe me, Bradley, whet
vou have this information on Wilson, | don't think you'll have
any problem at all in reviving the project - so you win on both
counts. Now, do you want it or not?'

‘I want it,' Bradley said, already excited. 'Where and when
can we meet?'

'My ship leaves tomorrow, so can you meet me today? I've «
prior engagement for tonight,’ she said, sounding teasing, 's
how about lunch right here?'

You can't make it any other time?'

'No.'

Then lunch it is.'

Il be at a table in the restaurant. One o'clock?'

'Right,' he said. Thanks for calling.'

'My pleasure, Bradley.'

Feeling remarkably flustered, Bradley put the phone down
just as Mark, his eighteen-year-old son, entered the office.

'Hi, Dad," he said.

The young man was blessed with his mother's warm browr
eyes and sensitive features, which no doubt helped, Bradle
thought, with the many young ladies he dated in Manhattar
during the weekends. In fact, Mark, though oddly shy, was ¢
considerable ladies' man who kept one set of girlfriends in
Manhattan, where he went to college, and another ir
Connecticut, where he lived with the family on weekends.

Bradley had always liked people who could surprise him
and Mark could certainly do that.

'Hi, kid,' Bradley said, as his son took the chair at the othel
side of his desk. 'Is it lunchtime already?'

'Yep, it sure is. Don't tell me you were working too hard to
notice. | don't fall for those tricks.'

Feeling guilty, Bradley grinned. 'Did | promise you lunch
today?'
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Yeah,' Mark replied, 'but I'm letting you off the hook. Since
my lecture's been canceled and I've got the afternoon free, I'
going to have lunch with Gail Mitchell, who looks sweeter than
you.'

‘Gail Mitchell? Do | know her?'

'l don't think so. She lives in Brooklyn Heights. | met her
through a friend at college and she's rich and impossibly
attractive and too tall for you.'

'I may be only five-foot-seven,' Bradley said, unburdened of
his guilt, 'but what there is, is all man. Anyway, never mind. |
was going to disappoint you. I'm having an unexpected
business lunch today, so I'm glad you're fixed up.'

'Who are you lunching with?'

'Dave Marsh,' Bradley lied instinctively, impelled by the
return of the guilt caused by the thought of Gladys Kinder anc
using the name of a friend he met often for lunch.

'You mean that other lawyer?'

‘Right'

'| think I met him at home a few years ago.'

"You did. We once invited him for Thanksgiving. He got
drunk and made a pass at your mother, which gave her a thril
Anyway, since it's urgent, | had to cancel you and arrange t
meet him instead.’

'‘Charming," Mark retorted.

'Well, | knew you'd have a tall lady at hand, so | wasn't too
worried. Come on, let's go.'

They left the office, took the elevator down to Wall Street,
and stood outside on the busy, sunlit pavement.

'‘Are you having a long afternoon or just lunch with your
Amazon?' Bradley asked.

‘Just lunch.'

'‘Okay. Since it's Friday afternoon, why not meet on the
platform of the station at three o'clock sharp and we'll go bac}
together?'

'Sounds good,' Mark said.

'Okay, son, I'll see you.'

While Mark sauntered off along the crowded sidewalk,
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Bradley grabbed a taxi to the Algonquin Hotel on 44th
Street. He found Gladys Kinder already seated in a booth i
the Rose Room, drinking bourbon and smoking a cigarette.

She certainly looked her age, which she had said wa:
thirty-eight, but even in her old-fashioned clothes, which
were doubtless the rage in Roswell, she had an undeniab
attractiveness and, at least to him, an oddly opaque, prc
vocative sensuality.

She made him feel slightly out of breath.

As he sat beside her in the banquette, wondering why sh
had chosen it instead of an open table, she held up her glas
grinned laconically, and said, 'lI've been on the wagon since la
night, but | couldn't resist this. We working journalists are all the
same.'

'It looks almost empty,' Bradley observed. 'Shall | order
another one?'

'Why not?' she responded.

'Shall we also order the food?'

'Sure,' she said. 'Why not?'

Instantly recalling her ability to hold her liquor, and also
remembering that when drinking she could be impish, Bradle)
ordered two more bourbons. He went through the menu witt
her, ordered the food for both of them, then, when the aperitif:
had arrived, raised his glass to her.

'‘Cheers," he said.

'‘Cheers, Mr Bradley,' she replied, also raising her glass an
smiling.

'Mike - just call me Mike.'

‘That sounds really intimate, Mike - but what the hell, call
me Gladys. Not the most romantic name in the world, but |
have to live with it.'

He had to grin at that one. 'You said you were on your way
to Europe. Did you really mean that?'

'Yep. Sure did, partner. | never quite recovered from the
way Wilson left me, | didn't particularly like being a middle-
age spinster in New Mexico, and so | wangled myself a job a:
foreign correspondent to the Roswell Daily Record, which I've
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served so well so far. Those good ol' boys in Roswell always
treated me fine, and when | told them | needed to get aways
this is what they came up with. It doesn't pay much, but ['ll
see Europe, and I've dreamed of that all my life.'

'‘Based anywhere in particular?'

‘London. But I'm hoping to go to Spain. | think things are
happening there.'

'Bad things.'

'l guess so.'

Over the meal, Bradley told her what he knew about
Europe, which was considerable, and all the time he fell
himself falling into her, as if in a dream. She wasn't like the
women he knew - she was rough-edged and laconic - but th:
very difference, which seemed more pronounced here, ir
these sophisticated surroundings, made her even mor
attractive to him.

Talking about their first meeting in the Roswell hotel's
gloomy lobby, she said, 'You had the East Coast written all
over you and | thought that was cute.'

She also joked about how shocked he had seemed whe
after informing her that he was in Roswell to interview the
members of Goddard's rocket team, she responded by not on
telling him she had been Wilson's mistress, but by elaborating i
drunkenly mischievous, intimate detail just what she and he
Le%arkably youthful sixty-year-old lover had done together in

ed.

'You looked as shocked as a cheerleader trapped in
baseball team's shower room after a winning game. God, ths
was something!

Finally she reminded him that he had found her attractive
that she had seen it in his face, and that his blushing response
her teasing had simply confirmed it.

'Yes,' he murmured, 'l guess it did.’

He had never had an affair before and certainly didn't plan tc
start one now, but when he thought of her going off to
Europe, probably never to be seen again, he was filled with a
unutterable sense of loss. It was an unexpected, inexplicable
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feeling, and it left him bewildered.

So bewildered, in fact, that he almost forgot to ask her abou
Wilson - though eventually, over the coffee and brandy, he
did get down to business.

'You said you'd been to Cornell,' he reminded her. 'ls tha
true or not?"

She became more serious then. 'Yeah,' she said, 'it's true
Opening her handbag, she withdrew two sheets of typed note
unfolded them, and spread them out on the table. She we
briefly distracted by her brandy, but eventually, after imbibing
and inhaling, she blew smoke and started reading from he
neatly typed notes.

‘Name: John Wilson. Born July 6, 1870, in Montezuma,
lowa, to Cass and Ira Wilson, both listed as farmers. Attende
elementary school in Montezuma then high school in Des
Moines. Stunning reports from both schools for his academic
achievements - though all agreed that he seemed to have fe
friends and cared only for studying. In the fall of 1888, when he
was eighteen years old, he signed on at MIT - apparently
shortly after his mother died and his father sold their farm in
the Corn Belt and moved back to Worcester, Massachusett
his hometown. At MIT, Wilson studied aerodynamics, with
particular emphasis on the wind-tunnel experiments that tool
place in the Engineering A Department In 1893 - the same
year his father died - Wilson's reports, in which every subject is
listed as 'exemplary,' thus setting a college record, gained hir
entry to Sibley College, Cornell University, where he studied
experimental engineering. By 1895 he'd obtained his bachelc
of science degree in aeronautics and left Cornell. The universit
records don't say where he planned on going when he left - b
they do reveal that between 1896 and 1897 he returne
frequently to the university to attend the lectures of Octave
Chanute.'

She stopped reading and raised her eyes from the notes.

'‘Anything else?' Bradley asked.

'No," she replied. 'At least not until he turned up, in the fall of
1930, to work for six months with Robert H. Goddard, whom
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we all know and love as the controversial rocket scientist and
later, if more renowned, MIT graduate.’

Bradley wrinkled his brow. 'Did you say 19307

'Yep.'

'You mean there's nothing on this guy from 1895 to 1930 -z
period of approximately thirty-five years?'

'Not so far. He appears to have wiped his own tracks clear
We don't know what he did for a living following graduation,
but we do know that he frequently returned informally to
Cornell to attended Chanute's lectures, given throughout 189
and 1897. Then, when Wilson was twenty-seven years old, h
dropped out of sight completely - and he didn't reappear unti
1930, when he worked for six months with Robert Goddard,
before disappearing again, as completely as he'd done the fir
time.'

That's incredible,’ Bradley said, blowing another cloud of
smoke. 'A guy can't disappear that completely for thirty-five
years, then suddenly turn up again at sixty years old!

Gladys sighed. 'So far that appears to be the case. Wilsc
seems to be some kind of authentic genius. He obtained hi
BA in aeronautics when they were very rare indeed, he
claimed to Goddard that he had designed airships - and yet w
can't find a thing on what should have been the most
productive thirty-five years of his life.'

Bradley gave a low whistle.

'‘Would that be possible in this day and age?' Gladys aske
but before Bradley could open his mouth to reply, she raise
her index finger and asked, more emphatically: 'One: Would ¢
man with that track record be capable of designing airships
And, two: If he was capable of doing so, could he have done it ir
total secrecy for so long?'

She glanced across the crowded restaurant at the group
people arguing noisily in a cloud of cigarette smoke at a table i
the middle of the room. They included Wiliam Shawn, the
associate editor of the New Yorker, an increasingly blind anc
visibly drunken cartoonist named James Thurber, a matine
idol theater reviewer, Robert Benchley, and the deceptively
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sweet-faced satirical writer, Dorothy Parker. Grinning slightly
and shaking her head, as if she didn't believe it, Gladys turne
back to Bradley.

'I'd already checked out that possibility,' Bradley said, ‘and in
answer to your first question - yes, Wilson could have gone
into airship design with that kind of background. Although
there were no formal aeronautical courses at MIT when
Wilson was there, there were plenty of informal courses or
propulsion and the behavior of fluids - two subjects that
Goddard later made his own. And certainly, by 1896,
instructors and students at MIT had built a wind tunnel and
were experimenting with it to get practical knowledge of
aerodynamics. As for Sibley College, the experimental
engineering courses that Wilson attended would have bee
conducted by professors Rolla Clinton Carpenter, George
Burton Preston, Aldred Henry Eldredge, Charles Edwin
Houghton, and Oliver Shantz - some of the greatest aerc
nautical thinkers of their day. Finally, Octave Chanute was the
world-famous engineer who, in 1896, emulated the successft
manned hang-glider experiments of the German, Ottc
Lilienthal, at an aerial experiment station on the Lake Michigan
sand dunes near Miller, Indiana - so, again, Wilson learnec
from the very best'

'‘But what was the state of knowledge at the time?' Glady:
asked, still skeptical about what he was telling her.

‘Well,' Bradley replied, 'according to what | learned at MIT, it
was certainly more advanced than is generally known. Fo
instance, Cornell's courses at the time included mechanice
and electrical engineering and machine design anc
construction. As for specific aeronautical texts of the time, they
were surprisingly advanced and would have included the
Smithsonian Institution's Experiments in Aerodynamics,
published in 1891; the Lawrence Hargraves experiment
reports of 1890 to 1894; the 1893 reports on Sir Hiram Maxim's
experiments on engines, propellers, airplanes, and flying
machines; and the Aeronautical Annual of 1895, 1896, anc
1897, which contained original contributions from most of the
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leading aeronautical scientists ... So assuming that Wilsor
was some kind of genius, he certainly could have attained th
knowledge necessary to design airships.'

'Oh, boy!" Gladys exclaimed softly, obviously intrigued. 'And
question two?'

'‘Could a man of such talents have worked in America for
thirty-five years, possibly designing airships, without leaving
any tracks behind?' Bradley nodded emphatically. 'Yes,
Gladys, it's certainly odd, but | think it's possible. The period
we're talking about was the greatest so far in the history o
aviation - the first successful flight of S. P. Langley's flying
machines; Santos-Dumont's flight in an airship from Saint
Cloud to the Eiffel Tower; the Wright brothers' first successful
heavier-than-air manned flight at Kitty Hawk, North Carolina;
Goddard's first experiments in rocketry; Wilbur Wright's
seventy-seven-mile flight in two hours and thirty minutes; then,
only seven months later, in 1909, Louis Bleriot's flight across
the English Channel; the dogfights and airship raids of the
Great War of 1914, and the continuing advances made sinc
then - so yes, Wilson could certainly have designed
airships... or even more advanced forms of aircraft.’

'But could he have done so in secret?'

'Yes, it's possible. In fact, it was a time when financiers were
in fierce competition with one another to sink money into
experimental aeronautical projects - so most of those project
were wrapped in the strictest secrecy. Wilson could, therefore
have worked in almost total anonymity with the full support,
even encouragement, of his financial backers. And the US
government,' he continued, practically talking to himself,
'quietly backed more than one aeronautical project -
particularly during the late 1930s - and usually insisted tha
such projects be kept secret They also occasionally took ove
civilian aeronautical projects and either ran them in strict
secrecy or, for one reason or other, quietly aborted them.' H
scratched his nose, coughed into his clenched fist, and spre:
his hands on the table. 'So," he said, 'there it is.'

There was a moment's silence which seemed to last forever.
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then Gladys said: 'Tell you what... I'll run a check on all the
companies that were known to be working on such project:
and see if Wilson's name pops up magically. It depends, |

suppose, on whether or not he used his own name - but I'
certainly give it a try for you before | catch the boat - since
the guy who obtained these notes for me, who works in the
registrar's office at Cornell, is my date for this evening.'

Bradley, very much to his surprise, was upset to hear that
though he managed to hide the fact.

'Shall | call you at home tonight?' Gladys asked him.

'Sure,' he said, giving her his number, but feeling as guilty ac
a man arranging an assignation, ‘that would be great. Now
have to go, Gladys. I'm meeting my son at Penn Station &
three o'clock, to take the train home.'

He felt embarrassed saying it, but Gladys just smiled
wickedly. 'Ah, yes,' she said, 'l remember. You told me all
about your family. A lovely wife and a boy and girl, as |
remember.’

That's right," Bradley said. Though the boy and girl are
older than you might think. In fact, Mark is eighteen.’

'A good age,' Gladys said.

Yet she seemed sad at that moment, or at least a littl
regretful, and when they left the hotel and faced each anothe
on 44th Street, Bradley, not normally a romantic man, hardly
knew what to say.

She had somehow sneaked up on him.

Well,' she said, offering her sunburned hand and a lopside:
grin, ‘it was nice to see you again, Mike Bradley. I'l give you
that final call tonight, then it's au revoir, baby.'

Thanks,' he said. 'Au revoir.'

She just stood there as he climbed into a taxi and let it drive
him away.

He was almost choked up.
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Bradley met Mark at three o'clock at Penn Station and the
took the train back to Bridgeport, Connecticut, unencumberec
with the usual rush-hour crowd of fellow commuters. As
Bradley had already phoned to say they would be early, hi:
wife, Joan, was waiting for them in her car and drove them
back to their relatively modest, ranch-style home, just ten
minutes from the station and surrounded by expansive
gardens and protective trees. There Bradley refreshed himse
with a shower, dressed in casual slacks, shirt, and pullovel
relaxed for an hour with the radio and another whiskey, ther
joined Joan and his two children for dinner in the oak-panelec
dining room.

Modestly drunk from his lunch with Gladys Kinder and the
additional whiskey, and still an Irish sentimentalist at heart,
Bradley, after sharing a bottle of red wine with his family,
found himself glancing from his wife to his daughter, quietly
startled at how similar they looked in all but their age. Joan
was thirty-eight, five days older than Bradley, and although
their daughter, Miriam, was still only seventeen, she and he
mother were almost like twins - sharing the same delicate
features, dark hair, enchanting cafe-au-lait eyes, and a quiet
mischievous sense of humor.

Bradley, usually sentimental but now guilty because of his
guiltless passion for Gladys Kinder, was even more in love with
both of them tonight than he was normally.

'‘How did school go today?' he asked Miriam.

The same as always,' she replied. 'Clark Gable was teaching
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math, Bette Davis taught history, and Errol Flynn discussec
the things he knows best, then gave out his phone numbe
That's why | love school, Dad.'

Bradley grinned. 'Well, school's certainly improved since
my day - and the results are so wonderful.'

Miriam lowered her head and blushed.

'‘Gee,' Mark said, ‘what a sweet kid! She makes me feel s
mature, so protective, when she blushes like that.'

'Shut up, Mark," Joan warned him.

'Sorry, Mom,' he replied.

'Who's taking you to the prom?' Bradley asked. 'Have you
decided that yet?'

'‘Whoever asks her,' Mark informed him.

'Shut up, Mark," Joan warned him.

'l told you," Miriam replied, smiling sweetly. 'Errol Flynn
gave me his number and a welcoming smile.’

'He's too old for you," Joan said.

'A nice guy,' Mark said, 'but too old.’

‘What about that kid who walks you home from school? At
least he looks like Errol Flynn.'

'‘Looks aren't everything, Dad.'

'His father's rich," Joan reminded her.

'Money's not everything, Mom.'

'It's nearly everything, Miriam.'

Will he be taking you?' Bradley asked.

Miriam sighed. 'He hasn't asked me.'

'When he asks, are you going to say yes?'

Miriam sighed. 'l suppose so.'

‘A real lucky guy,' Mark said.

Yes, isn't he?' Miriam responded.

'Please finish your desserts,' Joan said to all of them, 'so
can clear this table and put up my feet.'

'Yes, ma'am!' they all exclaimed at once.

Joan did in fact put her feet up after dinner, stretching out
on the sofa, while Bradley sat on the floor beside her, having
brandy and feeling deeply grateful for the good life he had. The
kids had retired to their own rooms and he was about to
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put on the radio, but Joan stopped him by taking hold of his
wrist and pulling his hand onto her stomach, which still was
as flat as an adolescent's, and seductively warm. 'No," sk
said, 'l don't want to hear the radio. Let's just talk for a while.'

'Okay, dear. Sure. Anything special?'

'‘Nope,' she said with a lazy smile. 'Nothing special at all.
flow did your day go?'

The same as always,' he replied. 'Clark Gable came by for
drink, Bette Davis dropped in for a smoke, and Errol Flynn
called to discuss his marriage. That's why I love it at work.'

Joan chuckled softly, squeezed his hand, then lightly
stroked his wrist 'So what did you really do?' she asked. 'Was |
something exciting?'

'Mostly routine,' he replied. The best part of the day was
lunch with Dave Marsh, who sends love and kisses.'

Joan's smile was quietly radiant. '‘Ah, my boyfriend!" she saic
softly, oblivious to Bradley's shame. 'Was this just your usual
monthly get-together or something special?'

'He's going to check someone out for me,' Bradley told her. '/
guy called John Wilson. A guy who's starting to intrigue me. A
real mystery man...'

He told her all about Wilson, taking longer than he had
expected, and then added that he was expecting a late-nig
calldfrom one of Dave Marsh's friends: a lady named Gladys
Kinder.

When he stopped talking, Joan rolled onto her hip, to star
directly, steadily at him with her lovely brown eyes.

'‘Be careful, Mike," she told him. 'Don't let this become
another obsession. You're easily bored, always searching fc
new adventures, and | know that you're looking at intelligence
work to get you out of the office. But | repeat, please be careful
Don't become obsessed with this mystery man. We have
good marriage, but it's been through its troubles, and most c
those troubles occurred when you became obsessed with yo
work. So please, Mike, no matter how intriguing this man is,
don't let him threaten our marriage.'
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'| promise | won't'

She went to bed shortly after and he promised to follow
immediately, but instead sat on, thinking about what she ha
said and accepting the truth in it They did have a good
marriage, but it had had its troubles, and in nearly every
instance the problem had been caused by his obsession wi
some job or other and his subsequent neglect of home an
hearth. He loved Joan and the children, appreciated what
had, and didn't want ever again to let work, or anything else
take him away from them.

And he was silently vowing not to let this happen when the
telephone rang.

'l think I've found our man,' Gladys Kinder said. 'Our
mysterious Mr Wilson. In 1895, the year Wilson left Cornell, a
now-defunct New York financial company, Cohn and
Goldman Incorporated, financed an aeronautical company
reportedly to research and, if possible, construct passenge
carrying airships. While Cohn and Goldman denied repeatedl
that they were attempting to build commercial airships - as
most speculators routinely did in those days - | have
confirmation that they constructed their factories in Mount
Pleasant, near the border of lowa and lllinois... And
according to the company records, the man put in charge of th
whole project was a relatively unknown aeronautical
scientist named John Wilson.'

Bradley was surprised to find himself releasing the breath he
had been unwittingly holding in.

'‘Anything else?' he asked.

'‘No, Mike. Those are the only clippings | could find on
either Wilson or the company Cohn and Goldman.'

'lIt's more than enough to go on,' Bradley said. Thanks ¢
hell of a lot, Gladys.'

Excited and confused at once, he was just about to hang u
but Gladys spoke urgently enough to stop him. 'One more
thing, Bradley... In checking the clippings, | was also
reminded that the following two years - 1896 and 1897 - were
notable for one phenomenon in particular: the great wave of
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mystery airships. They called them UFOs - unidentified flying
objects.’

'‘Because most of the reports indicated that the airship:
were more advanced than any known to have been constructed
the time. Also, they were reported to be carrying passenger:
or crewmen. They landed frequently, usually to collect water
for their engines, and at such times the crewmen talked freel
to anyone who approached them... And the crewman whc
features most frequently in the reports is a man who callec
himself—'

‘Wilson?"

'Right." She chuckled and then went serious. 'I'm gonne
arrange to have a friend send you the newspaper clipping
about those sightings - and that's about it, Mike. After this,
I'II"be on my way to Europe. No more lunches. No phone
calls...'

Her voice trailed off into a silence that spoke volumes and
left Bradley grieving.

‘Gladys, | don't know how...'

'‘What's domestic life like out there in Connecticut?'

'It's very nice.'

‘Yeah, | thought so. Good-bye, Mike.'

'‘Good-bye, Gladys.'

The phone went dead. Bradley felt very emotional. He
forgot to join Joan in bed, but instead went into his study anc
sat at his desk. He pulled out the notes he had collected o
Wilson and started to ponder them.

The next morning, having not slept a wink, he rang Genera
Taylor.
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CHAPTER NINE

'I'm Lieutenant Ernst Stoll," Wilson's new interrogator said when the
cell door had closed behind the man and he took the hard wood
chair facing the bed upon which Wilson was seated. 'l am, as you c:
see, a member of the SS, not the Gestapo, and | work for tt
technical intelligence branch. Naturally, he added, waving the
papers in his right hand and offering what seemed like a shy smile,
know who you are, so shall we begin?'

'What if | say no?' Wilson asked.

' would ignore you, of course.'

Wilson smiled. 'Let's begin, then. | take it, as you're from
technical intelligence, that we've made a little progress - or at lea:
finished with relatively unimportant matters.’

That's true,’ Lieutenant Stoll said, mildly amused by Wilson's
impertinence. "Your background and motivation have been ascertaine
so I'm here to talk about the work you have shown us and wish t
do for us.'

'‘Good,” Wilson said, deliberately keeping his gaze steady
searching the lieutenant's face for what it was hiding, because ¢
faces were masks. Lieutenant Ernst Stoll was young, perhaps
his middle twenties, and while he looked diabolically handsome ir
his gleaming black uniform, his face did not display a confidence tc
match. Indeed, he seemed a litle haunted, a man divided withi
himself, and was obviously trying to cover his doubts with his dryly
polite, distant manner.

"You have a technical background?' Wilson asked him.

'Yes,' Stoll replied with a flicker of pride. 'l studied
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aeronautical engineering at the Institute of Technology in
Munich, then rocket technology under Professor Becker a
the Institute of Technology, Berlin University.'

'‘Ah!" Wilson exclaimed softly, with admiration. 'Becker! So
were you a member of the German Amateur Rocket Society?"

'No," Stoll said, briefly displaying hurt and resentment, then
hiding it by changing the subject. 'l trust you found the
previous interrogations civilized," he asked, looking up from
his papers.

"Yes," Wilson said. 'Perfectly civilized. Surprisingly so.’

Lieutenant Stoll raised his eyebrows as if puzzled. 'Why
surprisingly so? Is it not what you would have expected from
German officers?'

'‘Given the sounds that have emanated from some of th
other cells, | take it that not all German officers are so civilized
when interrogating their prisoners.'

Ernst looked embarrassed, then smiled bleakly. 'Ah," he
said, 'that. Well, some prisoners are more troublesome tha
others, as I'm sure you agree. A little persuasion often goes
long way - though | hope that the noise from the other cells
didn't make you lose too much sleep.’

Because he had been forced to listen, day and night, to th
screaming of those being abused in the other cells or tortur
chambers of this Gestapo headquarters and prison, Wilso
would certainly have lost a good deal of sleep had he been tt
kind to need a lot of it. As he was not, and as the fate of other
did not concern him, he'd had a relatively comfortable time.

Nevertheless, hoping to find out more about the situatior
outside the prison, he said, 'Yes, | lost some sleep - particularl
during that day and night two weeks ago, when this whole
place turned into a madhouse of bawling and shooting.’

"You mean June 307"

'‘Correct.’

The lieutenant's facade nearly crumbled, revealing
revulsion mixed with shame, but he quickly regained his
composure and smiled again, bleakly. 'Ah, yes, the Night of
the Long Knives. That's what they call it now.'
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'Is it true that the SS murdered over a hundred, maybe tw
hundred, SA officers and others in that one bloody purge?'

'No, it's not true,' the lieutenant replied with self-defensive
anger. Those men weren't murdered, but executed, becau
they were traitors.'

'Executed without trial," Wilson corrected him.

You're impertinent, Herr Wilson. Count your blessings that
you're American. Count them also because that purge, abo
which you are so sarcastic, has ensured that the SS, and r
the SA, are now virtually ruling the Third Reich. The SS will
therefore be in control of any research establishment in whicl
you're likely to find yourself.'

'‘My request, then, is being seriously considered.’

That's why | am here.'

Realizing that after weeks of interrogation in this prison cell, he
was close to getting what he wanted, Wilson allowed himsel
the luxury of a feeling of triumph. When Lieutenant Ernst
Stoll of SS Technical Intelligence lowered his head to study
the papers on his knee, Wilson recognized his original
drawings and notes, cunningly unfinished, for the kind of
aircraft the Nazi's Projekt Saucer was trying, unsuccessfully, tc
create. It was also what he was trying to create, and with thei
help he would do it.

Lieutenant Stoll looked up from his notes and said, "While
I'm very impressed, | find it hard to believe that during the
period you worked in secret - between 1895 and 1930 - yol
could have made the extraordinary technical advance:
indicated in these notes and drawings.'

'You've already tested my intellect and knowledge and know
that both are remarkable - so why doubt my achievements?'

'We cannot check your actual engineering or scientific
achievements until we get you into a research center; howeve
according to what we can gauge from these remarkable note
and drawings, your achievements were completely divorcec
from the general scientific achievements of the time. Those
were very early days, and your achievements seem to
advanced even to have sprung from that period.'
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It's a widely held misconception that those were early days,
Wilson replied, 'but they were in fact the most productive days ir
the history of science. As you've studied aeronautical
engineering and rocketry, | needn't tell you about the
extraordinary advances made in those fields during tha
period. However, | should remind you that by 1895 Rontgen
had discovered X rays, Marconi had invented wireless
telegraphy, Auguste and Louis Lumiere had invented the
Cinematographe, the first main railway was electrified, and
Ramsay had detected, by spectroscope, helium from
terrestrial source. By 1896 we had Rutherford's magnetic
detection of electrical waves, the construction of an electrica
submarine in France, and the first successful flights of S. P
Langley's flying machines. By 1897 numerous patents for
flying machines had been registered, and J. J. Thomson's wo
on cathode rays had led to the evaluation of the electron. Th
rest I'm sure | don't have to tell you: From the successful tes
flights of Langley's flying machines in 1897 to the first cross-
channel flight took only one decade - and in that decade Robe
H. Goddard had already begun his experiments in rocketry
So, lieutenant, | was not too advanced for my own time - anc
indeed my work did spring from it and was nurtured by its
achievements.'

Stoll smiled frostily, glanced down at Wilson's notes, then
looked up again. "Your work has been studied by our Projek
Saucer scientists and engineers at the German Rock
Research Institute at Kummersdorf, just outside Berlin. While it
is agreed that your designs are remarkable, they remai
incomplete and would not lead to a workable saucer-shape
aircraft. You claim that with our help you'd be able to complete
this project, but why, since our own scientists have failed
repeatedly to do so, should we place our faith in your
undoubted talents?'

You know | can't answer that," Wilson said carefully, 'but
can only show you what | can do when I'm actually working.'

'l understand that, Herr Wilson, but perhaps you can at leas
give me some indication of the direction you'd be heading in.
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For instance, what would separate your work from that which is
already being done by our scientists at Kummersdorf? We
agree that an aircraft shaped like a saucer would fly better tha
any other, but that shape also has its own problems, which s
far we can't solve. How, then, would you approach this problen
that has so far foiled us?'

Wilson had no intentions of telling them everything he had
discovered, but he knew that he had to give them enough t
whet their appetites and encourage them to let him work fol
them. He therefore leaned forward on the bed and chose h
words carefully.

'Your scientists have been researching along conventione
lines,' he said, 'but a saucer-shaped aircraft wouldn't respond
conventional laws of aerodynamics, so we have to look
elsewhere.’

'I'm not sure | understand,' Stoll replied, though his gaze
was steady and thoughtful.

‘When | was working with the wind tunnel at Zeppelin in
Friedrichshafen," Wilson said, 'l helped test many of the
experimental products coming from Kummersdorf - and it
soon became clear to me that the Kummersdorf scientists wel
trying to construct some kind of saucer-shaped aircraft.'

"You've already told us you knew that," Stoll said impatiently.

‘I remind you of it," Wilson replied, unperturbed, 'because |
also ascertained that most of the Kummersdorf designs wer
based on the tailless, or "all-wing," aircraft, the Horten 1, which
was designed and constructed by the Horten brothers, Walte
and Riemer, for the German Air Ministry, at their factory in
Bonn, from 1931 to 1932. That so-called all-wing aircraft, which in
prototype was a glider, had a span of forty point seven feet, |
wing area of two hundred and twenty-six square feet, and
wing-loading of two pounds per square foot. It had a flying
weight of four hundred and forty pounds, a gliding angle of
tr\]Nenty—one degrees, and a flying life of approximately seven

ours.'

"Your intelligence gathering is commendable," Stoll said
sarcastically, 'but what is the point of this?'
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The Horten brothers were convinced that the most
important form of aircraft would be the all-wing type, which is
why there were no vertical stabilizing or control surfaces on
their flying wing, the Horton 1, why it was virtually flat and
crescent-shaped, like a boomerang, and why the pilot wa
placed in a prone position - to reduce cockpit size.'

'Yes, Herr Wilson, | know this, but—'

'That so-called flying wing certainly flew for seven hours -
but it could never have been the basis of a flying saucer fo
one very good reason.'

'Yes?'

'It was still faced with the problem that's repeatedly foiled
your scientists: the limitations imposed by the boundary layer.
He could see that he had Stoll's interest, though the Germa
was trying to disguise it by showing little emotion. Amused,
Wilson said, 'Have you heard of the boundary layer,
Oberleutnant?'

Stoll just smiled at the sarcasm. 'Why don't you remind me
Herr Wilson? You talk so well about these things.'

'While being four or five thousand times less viscous than
oil, air is still viscous,' Wilson said, enjoying himself. 'Because of
this, the air sweeping in on the solid body of an aircraft forms
imperceptible stratifications of resistance and consequentl
decreases the speed of the body in flight. These layers of a
are therefore known as the boundary layer - and the bounda
layer increases its resistance in direct proportion to the
increasing speed of the flying object, thus imposing severe
limitations on its speed and maneuverability.'

'‘And in layman's terms?' Stoll asked, clearly amused by
Wilson's enthusiasm for lecturing.

'In layman's terms," Wilson continued, drawing Stoll into his
web, 'the major problem regarding supersonic flight is to
somehow move this negative air as far to the rear of the aircra
as possible, thus minimizing the expenditure of energy
required to propel it through the sky. Moreover, it's possible
that a revolutionary type of aircraft could - by not only
completely removing the boundary layer, but by somehow
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rerouting it and utilizing it as an added propulsive force - fly
through the skies using little other than the expelled air itself.
Should this be accomplished, we would have an aircraf
capable of remarkable speeds while using only the bare
minimum of conventional fuel.'

'So you plan to devote all your energies to solving the
problem of the boundary layer.’

'Yes,' Wilson said, playing his trump card, 'and Germany is
the place for doing that.’

'l am flattered - but why Germany?'

'‘As | explained to your Reichsfuhrer, the boundary layer
was introduced to the world of aerodynamics by the Germat
professor, Ludwig Prandtl, at Gottingen in 1904. Throughout
the following years, many other German scientists, including
professors Betz, Flettner, and Junkers, experimented witl
specially equipped aircraft in attempts to reduce the boundar
layer. Most of the experiments were based on the 'suctior
method, in which the negative air is sucked into the wing itself,
through tiny holes or slots, then expelled by means of a pum
located in the fuselage. While this was a step in the righ
direction, the resulting aircraft still required heavy, obstructive
engines - also the main problem with the flying wing jet fighter
the Horten brothers envisaged - but it's my belief that in orde
to get rid of the boundary layer completely - and in order to
make use of the "dead" air not only for acceleration, but for
maneuvering as well - what we need is an aircraft devoid of
all obstructing protuberances, such as wings, rudders, an
even normal air intakes, and one not requiring a large, heav
engine. In other words, this revolutionary new aircraft should
be the perfect 'flying wing' that offers the least possible
resistance, sucks in the "dead" air of the boundary layer, an
then uses that same air, expelling it at great force, to increas
its own momentum.’

‘And how do you propose creating such a machine?'

'‘By building the perfect flying wing - a circular wing that is,
in a sense, wrapped around its suction pump, with the pum
being part and parcel of the engine - a machine shaped like a
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saucer - and by constructing it from a porous metal that will
act like a sponge and remove the need for air intakes
altogether. This would result in frictionless air flow during
flight - an aircraft that slips through the air in the same way as
a piece of wet soap slips through the fingers. Its speed an
maneuvering capabilities would be literally limitless.'

Wilson felt excited merely thinking about it, and could see, in
the sheltered gleam of Stoll's dark gaze, that he was feeling tr
same way. Nevertheless, the young oberleutnant was bein
careful about showing his feelings.

This sounds wonderful in theory," he said, 'but practise is
something else. I'm not sure that your so-called porous metal |
a realistic proposal.'

'In fact, it's being worked on right now," Wilson said, ‘and
right here in Germany. Among the many other experiments |
helped run in the Zeppelin wind tunnel were those concerning
different porous metals being created by the scientists o
Gottingen and Volkenroda - a compound of magnesium anc
aluminum. The scientists are calling it Luftschwamm, or
aerosponge... and | think it will work.'

He knew that he had won the instant he saw Lieutenant Sto
fold up his papers and slip them back into his briefcase. 'It'
interesting,' the lieutenant said, pushing his chair back an
standing up, 'that even the great Russian, Tsiolokovsky
evinced a strong interest in circular, hyperbolic, and spherica
airframes.’

'I can see that you know more about this subject than yol
pretend, Oberleutnant,’ Wilson replied, thus making the
somber SS officer smile. 'And knowing that, you clearly also
know that the extensive research into all-wing aircraft and
rocketry that's been carried out in Germany during the pas
decade is directly due to German admiration for
Tsiolokovsky's theories.'

'‘And due to admiration for the American, Robert H.
Goddard, for whom you worked for six months.'

'l have to admit that although he's my junior, | learned a lot
from Goddard about the problems of stabilization and
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gyroscopic controls. That's why | wanted to work with him -it
was my only weak area.'

The lieutenant smiled genuinely for the first time and said,
'‘Come, Herr Wilson, we are leaving. We are going to put you tc
work. We do not have much time, so don't bother with your
possessions. This cell will be cleaned out as soon as we leav
and your possessions here, as well as those being kept by t
Gestapo, will be forwarded to you this afternoon. So please
follow me now.'

Quietly exultant, Wilson was led out of the cell and up the
stairs to the lobby near the front door of the building. There,
while he adjusted to his sudden sense of space and moveme
(after weeks in his tiny